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HEARING ON CLEANING UP OUR NATION’S COLD WAR LEGACY SITES

Wednesday, March 29, 2017

United States Senate
Committee on Environment and Public Works
Washington, D.C.

The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:06 a.m. in
room 406, Dirksen Senate Office Building, the Honorable John
Barrasso [chairman of the committee] presiding.

Present: Senators Barrasso, Carper, Inhofe, Capito,
Wicker, Fischer, Rounds, Ernst, Sullivan, Cardin, Merkley,

Gillibrand, Booker, Markey, and Harris.



STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE JOHN BARRASSO, A UNITED STATES
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF WYOMING

Senator Barrasso. Good morning. I call this hearing to
order.

Today we are here to talk about the environmental legacy of
the Cold War.

For decades, the military took the steps needed to protect
our Nation’s security against the threat of nuclear war with the
Soviet Union. These steps were necessary and prudent to ensure
the safety and security of our Nation.

Just speaking from my home State of Wyoming, we are very
proud of the role that our State has played in deterring the
threat that the former Soviet Union posed.

This involved the development and deployment of Atlas
nuclear missiles during the early days of the Cold War. These
missile sites were on high alert during the Cuban Missile
Crisis. Our servicemen maintained these sites by using wvast
amounts of trichloroethylene, TCE, to clean rocket fuel lines.
These soldiers had no idea that decades later that practice
would create a serious negative environmental legacy.

Today there is groundwater contamination from the TCE.
Seven of these Atlas Missile sites are around the City of
Cheyenne area and they have varying degrees of groundwater

contamination. The City of Cheyenne officials approached me



when they found traces of TCE in the city’s water wells and they
told me that the Atlas Missile Site Number 4 was the reason.

The Army Corps disputed this claim and, despite their
denials, I forced the Army Corps to do testing that eventually
proved that the TCE was coming from the Atlas site.

According to the Wyoming Department of Environmental
Quality, Atlas Site 4’s TCE concentrations in the groundwater
exceed 240,000 parts per billion, well above a safe drinking
limit of 5 parts per billion.

The Atlas site plume of TCE is around 12 miles long and 3
miles wide. According to the Wyoming Department of
Environmental Quality, it is “one of, if not the largest TCE
plume in all of the Country.”

The Corps has since constructed a water treatment plant
that ensures that Cheyenne’s water is clean and safe, and has
provided granulated activated carbon systems for private
landowners who use well water.

Atlas 4 is just one of these sites that has large plumes of
this pollutant. Atlas 1 has a TCE plume that is a mile long and
two-thirds of a mile wide. Atlas 3’'s plume is a mile long and a
half mile wide.

Over the years, I have heard concerns from my constituents
about the attitude of regional Corps officials on the ground.

Each time communities and impacted stakeholders try and engage



with the Corps on these issues, they have historically been met
with an unhelpful attitude. Communities want to have the proper
testing done to know the size and the extent of the plumes, and
to where the plumes are expanding. They want to know that the
Corps will live up to their responsibilities and they want
adequate funding to ensure their safety.

Now, I hear time and time again from my constituents that
they feel the Corps just wants to do a quick fix or simply walk
away from the sites. This needs to change, and I am hoping that
this new Administration will bring a new attitude.

I know Wyoming isn’t the only State that has Cold War
legacy environmental problems. Many States, especially in the
West, have quite a few sites associated with the Cold War. We
must honor the legacy of our veterans who fought and won this
war. The Department of Defense, though, has an obligation to
leave States like Wyoming whole; to not only provide for our
Nation’s safety, but also to restore the environment of the
communities.

Senator Carper, I invite you to make an opening statement
at this point.

[The prepared statement of Senator Barrasso follows:]



STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE THOMAS R. CARPER, A UNITED STATES
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF DELAWARE

Senator Carper. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thanks so much
for holding our hearing today.

I want to say a special thanks to our witnesses. General,
thanks so much for spending the time to visit with us yesterday.
It was just a real joy. We very much appreciate the partnership
that we have with the Army Corps of Engineer folks mostly in the
greater Philadelphia area regional office, but also in
Baltimore, too.

Sitting right behind Barry Breen is a fellow who I think is
going to ride off into the sunset, a colleague of 32 years of
service to our Country at EPA, and his name is Randy Deitz.
Randy, would you just stand up? Thirty-two years. Nice round
of applause for Randy Deitz. Thank you for your service.

[Applause. ]

Senator Carper. Well, today we are going to hear why
simply sending barely adequate funding to the EPA and the Army
Corps of Engineers for cleanup of contaminated Department of
Defense sites just doesn’t cut it. Instead, we need to fund
these agencies to the fullest extent possible.

Over the next two hours we are going to discuss the status
of cleanup projects at coal or legacy sites under three

different programs: the Formerly Used Defense Sites, known as



FUDS, the FUDS program; the Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial
Action Program (FUSRAP); and the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, which we call CERCLA
or Superfund.

Unlike some of the States represented here, our Chairman
and others, we don’t have the kind of contamination from sites
that some of our sister States have. Having said that, my
father and my uncle served in World War II. My wife’s dad was
involved in The Manhattan Project, which is sort of like related
to a lot of what we are going to be talking about here today, at
least indirectly. So we have more than just a passing interest
in this.

During the past 200 years, a number of activities that
support our Country’s military readiness have resulted, as we
know, in the need for environmental cleanup. These sites,
located in just about every State, were used for a variety of
purposes: training and supporting soldiers, airmen, sailors and
marines, as well as testing new weapons, warfare capabilities,
and energy technologies. The people who worked at these
facilities helped to develop the nuclear weapons that ended
World War II, the missiles that kept the Soviets at bay for all
those decades, and the rockets that sent men to the moon. They

often toiled away in secret, on the cutting edge of chemistry,



nuclear physics, and missile engineering. The legacy they left
us, though, is one of technological might.

But it is also a legacy that came at a high environmental
price. Many of these sites were operated at a time when
awareness about environmental health and safety paled by
comparison to what it is today. The Hanford Nuclear Reservation
site in Washington State was contaminated not Jjust by
radiocactive material but, as we know now, by toxic chemicals.
The site was contaminated by substances like carbon
tetrachloride, which caused liver, kidney, and nervous system
damage; chromium compounds, which caused cancers and other
serious health impacts; as well as other substances that were
not well catalogued or properly disposed of. Contamination at
the Atlas Missile site in Wyoming included, as the Chairman
knows, levels of cancer-causing trichloroethylene that were so
high that nearby residents needed to be provided with bottled
water and have special filters installed on their drinking water
wells.

Thousands of sites across the Country need some form of
remediation before they are safe to be re-used, and we owe it to
the patriots who worked at these sites, and to the communities
of people who now live and work near them, to remove the health,

environmental and safety risks that these sites pose to them.



I believe in Abraham Lincoln’s philosophy. People used to
say, Mr. Lincoln, what is the role of Government? And he would
respond the role of Government is to do for the people what they
cannot do for themselves. This philosophy, I think, is
especially applicable to the cleanup of these sites since no
cleanup would have been needed had our Government not needed the
weapons and the technology that were developed at those sites.

There are thousands of Formerly Utilized Defense Sites and
former Department of Energy sites whose cleanups the Army Corps
funds, and there are a number of Federally-owned facilities that
have been designated Superfund sites whose cleanups are overseen
by EPA. The need for funding always exceeds the amount of money
Congress provides because each cleanup poses unique challenges
and takes anywhere from several years to several decades in some
cases to complete. Cleaning up these sites has always been a
challenge.

But these sites and the people who live and work near them
face even greater challenges now because the President’s 2018
skinny budget decimates the EPA with a 31 percent budget cut and
cuts funding for the Army Corps by a billion dollars, almost 20
percent. And EPA’s Superfund program I think has been cut by 30
percent under this so-called skinny budget, and although EPA
Administrator Scott Pruitt told our Committee that the EPA needs

to provide more assistance to the States, the President’s fiscal
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year 2018 budget slashes State environmental grants by a
staggering 45 percent, or $482 million.

In closing, we look forward to hearing from our witnesses
today about the impacts the so-called skinny budget will have on
their abilities, your abilities to carry out your Federal
responsibilities and what the proposed cuts could mean for
contaminated sites in our home States. I honestly hope to work
with our colleagues on both sides of the aisle to take a
critical look at President Trump’s budget proposal and to work
with the Administration to ensure that these ill-advised cuts
are not ultimately agreed to.

Thanks again, Mr. Chairman. Let’s get on with it. Thank
you.

[The prepared statement of Senator Carper follows:]
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Senator Barrasso. Thank you very much, Senator Carper.

Before proceeding with the witnesses, I would like to
invite Senator Sullivan to make a very important introduction.

Senator Sullivan. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am
going to have to leave a little bit early because I need to go
preside, but I want to take the opportunity and really a
privilege to introduce one of my constituents who is a witness
today, a great Alaskan, Sarah Lukin. Sarah has been working to
address legacy contamination and cleanup of former Federal sites
throughout Alaska for many years, and I want to express my deep
appreciation and the Committee’s for your willingness to travel
so far to provide insights and unique points of view coming from
Alaska.

Sarah hails from Port Lions, Alaska, which is a remote
Native village on Kodiak Island. Now, for my colleagues who
have never been to Alaska, I want to say, and I am sorry Senator
Booker already left, Kodiak Island is about the size of New
Jersey and it is a magical place with salmon abundance and the
biggest brown bears on the planet Earth. So we want to
encourage you all to come out to that wonderful place and see
our great State.

Sarah is a shareholder and member of the Board of Directors
of Afognak Native Corporation and a shareholder of Koniag

Incorporation. She is an enrolled tribal member of the Native
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Village of Afognak and Native Village of Port Lions, and she has
spent years advocating for the cleanup of contaminated sites
throughout Alaska, but the sites particularly on Alaska Native
Corporation lands. She earned a Bachelor’s degree and Master’s
degree from the University of Alaska, so, Mr. Chairman, we are,
I am very excited to have her here, and I appreciate you and the
Committee inviting her.

Again, Sarah, thank you for traveling literally thousands
of miles to attend this hearing. I know we are going to learn a
lot. Thank you.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you very much, Senator Sullivan.

Welcome, Sarah.

As we turn to the witnesses, let me remind the witnesses
that your entire written statement will be made part of the
record. We ask you to try to keep your comments to within five
minutes.

I would like to first welcome back to the Committee the
Commanding General and Chief of the Army Corps of Engineers, Lt.
General Todd Semonite. Thank you very much for being with us

today.
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STATEMENT OF LT. GENERAL TODD T. SEMONITE, COMMANDING GENERAL
AND CHIEF OF ENGINEERS, U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS

General Semonite. Chairman Barrasso, Ranking Member
Carper, and distinguished members of the Committee, I am Lt.
General Todd Semonite, Commanding General of the Corps of
Engineers and the 54th Chief of Engineers. Thank you for the
opportunity to be here today to discuss the role of the Army
Corps of Engineers in support of the Department of Defense’s
commitment to protect the environment and restore contaminated
sites from past military activities.

Throughout our Nation’s history the Department of Defense,
or DOD, used land across the United States to manufacture and
test new weapons to ensure the Nation’s military readiness.
When these lands were no longer needed to support the war
fighter, the Department cleaned up the properties using the best
practices available at the time and returned them to private or
public uses. Today DOD is responsible for the environmental
restoration of these properties in accordance with current
applicable laws and regulations.

The United States Army Corps of Engineers provides critical
support to the execution of several programs addressing these
activities, and I will quickly walk through all three.

First, Formerly Used Defense Sites, or FUDS. The Corps 1is

working to clean up munitions dating to World War I and World
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War II eras. FUDS are defined as properties that were formerly
owned or otherwise possessed by the United States and under the
jurisdiction of the Secretary of Defense prior to October 1986.

The Corps holds the responsibility of executing the FUDS
program under the regulatory framework that identifies
mechanisms for funding and implementing the cleanup activities.
The remediation program is generally comprised of several
categories, including Installation Restoration Program, which
addresses the cleanup of hazardous substances; the Military
Munitions Response Program, which addresses unexploded ordnance;
and, finally, the Building Demolition and Debris Removal Program
that removes unsafe buildings and structures.

The scope and magnitude of the FUDS program are
significant. Over 10,000 formal DOD properties have been
evaluated for the FUDS program since its establishment. The
Corps has identified 5,357 cleanup sites at 2,716 different
properties where cleanup actions are required. Approximately
$7.1 billion have been appropriated to the FUDS program through
fiscal year 2016. Through this investment, 3,513 sites, or more
than 65 percent of the initial inventory, are now either closed
out or in monitoring status.

Over the last several years, DOD has annually allocated

between $200 million and $225 million to this program. Clearly,
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there is more work to do, with an estimated cost to complete the
FUDS program currently projected at $11.8 billion.

Second program, FUSRAP, another critical program that is
executed by the Corps. In 1997, using the FUDS program as a
model, Congress transferred the management and execution of
FUSRAP from the Department of Energy directly to the Corps. The
FUSRAP Program specifically addresses the environmental
remediation of sites where Manhattan Engineer District or the
Atomic Energy Commission activities were performed during the
1940s, 1950s, and 1960s.

Funded out of the Energy and Water appropriation, the Corps
receives approximately $100 million to $110 million annually to
execute the FUSRAP Program. Funding is prioritized to projects
that best support the overall goal of eliminating demonstrable
threats to public health, safety, or the environment.

The Corps has completed remediation of 9 sites since the
program was transferred from the Department of Energy. Twenty-
four sites are currently in the FUSRAP Program, representing a
cost to complete of approximately $1.55 billion.

Third, and finally, since 1982 the Corps has partnered with
the United States Environmental Protection Agency for
environmental cleanup support of large and complex Superfund
sites. The EPA relies on the Corps for the environmental

engineering expertise and access to state-of-the-art
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environmental technology that is used throughout DOD. The Corps
provides, on average, about $200 million to $300 million per
year worth of remedial design and remedial construction support
to EPA Superfund projects across the Country.

In summary, the Department of Defense is committed to
protect human health and the environment by investigating and,
if required, cleaning up contamination and munitions hazards
that may remain on these properties. As my written testimony
documents in greater detail, the Corps has made significant
progress in the cleaning up of FUDS and FUSRAP sites. I am
proud of the work that the Corps has accomplished in delivering
these programs to the Nation, and we remain committed to
achieving the cleanup program goals established by DOD and the
Army.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I appreciate
the opportunity to testify today and look forward to answering
any questions that you and the Committee may have.

[The prepared statement of General Semonite follows:]



17

Senator Barrasso. Thank you very much for your thoughtful
testimony. We appreciate you returning to the Committee today.
Thank you.

We will now turn to Mr. Barry Breen, who is the Acting
Assistant Administrator, Office of Land and Emergency Management
of the United States Environmental Protection Agency.

Thank you for joining us today. We look forward to your

testimony.
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STATEMENT OF BARRY BREEN, ACTING ASSISTANT ADMINISTRATOR, OFFICE
OF LAND AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT, U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
AGENCY

Mr. Breen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Carper,
and members of the Committee. At the outset, let me just thank
you for recognizing my colleague, Randy Deitz, at the outset of
the hearing. We will have a reception for him later today
recognizing his 32 years of Federal service, and I can’t wait to
brag that the Senate Environment and Public Works Committee
recognized him this morning. Thank you very much.

At the EPA, focusing on the Superfund program is one of
Administrator Pruitt’s top priorities. Extensive data suggests
that the Superfund program is a premier example of how EPA can
accomplish one of its core missions of protecting human health
and the environment, while simultaneously promoting jobs and
growth.

A 2012 peer reviewed study by the National Bureau of
Economic Research shows that Superfund cleanups reduce
congenital abnormalities by as much as 25 percent to families
living within 5,000 meters of a site. Birth defects mean
improved health for the whole next generation.

Additionally, we have data on 454 Superfund sites in reuse,

where about 3,900 businesses are generating $29 billion in sale
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and employing more than 108,000 people earning a combined income
of $7.8 billion.

And we improve property values, as well. A 2013 study by
researchers at Duke University and the University of Pittsburgh,
now peer reviewed, analyzed census tract data and found that
deletion of sites form the National Priorities List after
cleanup raises the value of owner-occupied housing three miles
from the site by between 18 percent and 24 percent. Those
increased property values means that local governments have a
more full tax base, and that means that they can provide more
fire protection, police protection, libraries, and schools. So
many things that local governments do for us can be done better
thanks to the Superfund program. Superfund, indeed, can provide
tremendous improvements to both human health and the economy.

Since enactment of Superfund, EPA, other Federal agencies,
and States and Tribes have made significant progress. We have
assessed more than 50,000 sites. The removal program has
conducted 15,000 removals at more than 9,000 sites, and 1,782
sites have been proposed on, listed on, or now deleted from the
Superfund National Priorities List. More than 90 percent of
those have undergone construction activity or the activity has
been completed or they have now been deleted from the NPL.

Turning to the Federal facilities program, in particular,

within the larger Superfund, Congress provided for EPA to use
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the Federal Agency Hazardous Waste Compliance Docket to identify
Federal facilities that need to be evaluated. EPA updates the
Docket every six months. So far, a little over 2,300 sites are
reflected on the Docket, and of those 2,300 174 have been listed
on the National Priorities List among Federal facilities; 140
are DOD, 21 are Department of Energy, and 13 are others. 1In the
last five years alone, we have completed construction, along
with our partners, at eight of these sites; 7 from the DOD, 1
from the Coast Guard. Completing construction means that all of
the actual construction of the cleanup is accomplished, even
though more work is needing to be done.

Credit for this progress is shared among EPA, States, and
the Federal agencies themselves. Federal departments and
agencies pay for the assessment and cleanup of facilities under
their jurisdiction; EPA provides assistance and oversight. In
the end, the Administrator of the EPA makes the final selection
of the cleanup action if the two agencies are unable to agree.
We have agreements with nearly all sites and, in many cases,
States are indispensable partners. Tribal governments can also
be involved and participate in decision-making with the other
Federal agency responsible for the tribal consultation.

At most Federal facility sites field staff relationships
are strong. The CERCLA framework has worked effectively for

more than 25 years. It has a proven track record and provided a
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consistent foundation. Because States are most often parties,
States are able to participate as well.

In conclusion, protecting human health and the environment
through continuing, and perhaps expanding on, the cleanup and
reuse activities remains among Administrator Pruitt’s top
priorities.

Thank you again for the invitation to join you today.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Breen follows:]
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Senator Barrasso. Well, thank you very much, Mr. Breen.

We appreciate your time here today and your testimony, so thank
you.

I am next going to turn to Mr. Kevin Frederick, who is the
Water Quality Administrator for the Wyoming Department of
Environmental Quality.

I would like to let folks know that Mr. Frederick
previously managed the groundwater section for the Water Quality
Division in Cheyenne. He oversaw the day-to-day permitting,
compliance, inspection, and monitoring activities involving the
Underground Injection Control Program, the Groundwater Pollution
Control Program, and the Federal Facilities Corrective Action
Program.

Prior to joining the Wyoming Department of Environmental
Quality, he has worked in the energy, minerals, and oil and gas
industry. In 2007 Mr. Frederick received an EPA Region 8
Environmental Achievement Award for leadership in groundwater
management. So this is a man who clearly knows from which he
speaks. He currently serves on the Board of Directors for the
Groundwater Protection Council and the Groundwater Research and
Education foundation; degrees in geology and geophysics from the
University of Wisconsin at Madison and is a Wyoming licensed

professional geologist.



Thank you so much for traveling from Wyoming to Washington

to testify to be with us today. Please proceed.
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STATEMENT OF KEVIN FREDERICK, WATER QUALITY ADMINISTRATOR,
WYOMING DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Mr. Frederick. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning.
Good morning, Ranking Member Carper and honorable members of the
Committee. My name is Kevin Frederick. I am the Water Quality
Administrator for the Wyoming Department of Environmental
Quality, and I thank the Committee for inviting the State of
Wyoming to share its perspective on environmental cleanup of
Cold War legacy sites.

Wyoming is home to 38 Formerly Used Defense Sites. My
comments today focus on those that have had the most significant
environmental impact, which are the 7 former Atlas Missile sites
in southeast Wyoming.

The Atlas Missile was the first fully operational strategic
missile developed by the U.S. and was designed for deployment of
nuclear warheads during the Cold War era of the late 1950s and
early 1960s. Missile sites were used for the housing,
readiness, and potential launch of nuclear missiles. The Atlas
Missile sites played a crucial role in protecting the safety and
security of the American people and ensured the military
readiness of the United States armed forces. However, some of
the sites have, and continue to cause serious environmental

problems.
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The Atlas used liquid rocket fuel propellant for fuel and
liquid oxygen as the oxidizer. Trichloroethylene, or TCE, a
known carcinogen, was used to clean the rocket fuel tanks,
engines, and lines to prevent accidental explosions. Spent TCE
drained into a series of unlined pits and channels, and into the
subsurface. The amount of TCE that may have been released into
the subsurface and into groundwater ranges from hundreds to
thousands of gallons at each site. It takes as little as two
teaspoons of TCE to contaminate an Olympic size swimming pool
full of water, more than 660,000 gallons. A number of factors
make TCE very difficult, expensive, and time-consuming to clean
up.

Groundwater within the Ogallala aquifer underlying some
missile sits has been impacted with TCE at levels far above the
safe drinking limit of 5 parts per billion. The Ogallala, as
you know, is one of the most important of the Nation’s aquifers,
supplying the agricultural and drinking water needs of the
bread-basket States in the Midwest. All of the missile sites
are located within 75 miles of Cheyenne, the most densely
populated area in the State and the home of F.E. Warren Air
Force Base. Residents rely heavily upon high quality
groundwater, much from the Ogallala, for municipal drinking

water supplies.
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Wyoming’s missile sites have some of the largest and
deepest TCE plumes in the U.S. The largest, at Missile Site 4,
16 miles west of Cheyenne, is roughly 12 miles long and 3 miles
wide in places. At Site 4, concentrations of TCE in groundwater
are greater than 240,000 parts per billion, or 48,000 times the
safe drinking water limit. Some of the City of Cheyenne’s
municipal drinking water supply wells, as well as two water
wells owned by private landowners, have already been impacted by
TCE from Atlas 4.

FEach of the seven Atlas Missile sites in Wyoming will
require significant human and capital resources to complete
cleanup, and each presents unique challenges and difficulties.
Overall costs expended to date at the seven missile sites
exceeds $45 million, and much work remains to be done. As of
2015, the Department of Defense estimated that the cost to
complete the investigation and remediation of Formerly Used
Defense Sites in Wyoming at more than $285 million.

The Department of Defense is ultimately responsible for
contamination at the Atlas Missile sites. As the State’s lead
environmental oversight agency, the Wyoming Department of
Environmental Quality coordinates with the Corps of Engineers to
investigate, characterize, and remediate contaminated soils and
groundwater at these sites. Of the seven sites in Wyoming, only

two are in the remediation phase to treat contaminant plumes.
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Collaboration between our respective agencies, together
with public involvement, allows cleanup of these sites in a way
that works and that is cost-effective. Upfront planning and
communication, including a clear understanding of the roles and
responsibilities of the agencies involved, and a mutual
understanding of the Federal and State regulations at work are
essential to the success of this endeavor. Adhering to these
basic tenets makes the process work best for all parties
involved.

Further details on each of the Wyoming missile sites, as
well as observations and recommendations that may help improve
the overall cleanup process at these sits, are provided in the
Appendix to my written testimony.

Mr. Chairman, Mr. Ranking Member, and members of the
Committee, I thank you for your time and remain available to
answer any questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Frederick follows:]
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Senator Barrasso. Well, thanks so much for your thoughtful
testimony. We are grateful that you have come to be with us
today.

Also traveling quite a distance, our next witness has
already been introduced by Senator Sullivan, Sarah Lukin, the
Board of Director of the Native Corporation, Alaska Native
Village Corporation Association.

Thanks for being with us.
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STATEMENT OF SARAH L. LUKIN, MEMBER, BOARD OF DIRECTORS, AFOGNAK
NATIVE CORPORATION

Ms. Lukin. Cama’i, hello, Chairman Barrasso, Ranking
Member Carper, and distinguished members of this Committee. My
name is Sarah Lukin. Quyanaa, thank you, for allowing me the
opportunity to discuss federally contaminated sites on land
conveyed to Alaska Native Corporations. I am here before your
Committee as a board member of Afognak Native Corporation and a
member of the Alaska Native Village Corporation Association.

World War II, Japan’s invasion of the Aleutians, and the
Cold War had profound impacts in Alaska. If Alaska’s expansive
forests and tundra could talk, what stories would they tell? TWe
would hear of 55 gallon drums full of toxic materials dumped in
lakes, of unexploded ordnances on the tundra, a stream with lead
batteries in it, Cold War legacies often hidden from view, but
slowly decaying, leaching into the ground and water.

Forty-five years ago, Congress settled Aboriginal land
claims with Alaska Native people through the Alaska Native Claim
Settlement Act, or ANCSA. Under ANCSA, the Federal Government
created Alaska Native Corporations and agreed to convey to our
Alaska Native people 44 million acres of land.

During the 1990s, the Alaska Native community raised
significant concerns that the Federal Government was conveying

contaminated lands to Alaska Native Corporations to meet our end
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of the bargain. 1In response, a 1998 Department of Interior
report explained Alaska Native Corporations had been conveyed
approximately 650 contaminated sites under ANCSA with various
types of hazardous waste and toxic materials that posed
significant health risk to humans, animals, and the environment,
including arsenic and PCBs, among others. One hundred eighty-
nine of the contaminated sites identified were Formerly Used
Defense Sites, or FUDS, and many included petroleum
contamination.

Sadly, under CERCLA, Alaska Native Corporations may be held
responsible for the cleanup of this preexisting contamination.
Let me be clear. Under ANCSA, Alaska Native people gave up 88
percent of our traditional lands and, in exchange, we received,
in part, contaminated sites that we may be legally liable for.

An updated report to Congress last year confirmed that
there are still 537 sites that require remediation on ANCSA
lands. Of the sites identified, the majority are Department of
Defense; 120 of them are FUDS.

Nearly 100 additional contaminated sites are not in a
cleanup program currently. Almost all of these sites are within
two miles of Alaska Native villages. These are places where our
Native people engage in subsistence activities, obtain our

drinking water, and let our children play.
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The Natives of Kodiak have spent the last 25 years
advocating for the cleanup of an old Army site on their ANCSA
land. The Army Corps of Engineers attempted to remediate the
site through FUDS and the Native American Lands Environmental
Mitigation Program, or NALEMP. The Natives of Kodiak refuses to
accept “institutional controls” and “long-term monitoring” of
the site as a solution and, instead, continues to seek clean
drinking water and land. This painfully slow cleanup has
stalled all economic development for the Natives of Kodiak for
the last two and a half decades.

The Afognak Lake and River area has been used by my people
for over 7,000 years for subsistence hunting and fishing. 1In
2003, my Tribe and Alaska Native Corporation partnered to clean
up an old Navy base located on the shores of our lake and river.
In partnership with FUDS and NALEMP, we spent six years cleaning
up the site. 1In addition to removing toxic materials, the
project built the business capacity of our organizations and
offered our local Native people training and much needed jobs.

With 537 sites still needing cleanup, we need fewer
failures like the Natives of Kodiak experience and more
successes like Afognak’s.

Congress can help move this critical issue forward. I urge
you to consider legislation to prioritize the cleanup of ANCSA

land. Currently, there is no such priority under FUDS to
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protect Alaska Native Corporations from legal liability under
CERCLA and to address petroleum cleanup, which is currently not
covered.

Quyanaasinaqg, thank you very much, and I would be happy to
answer any questions that you may have.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Lukin follows:]
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Senator Barrasso. Well, thank you very much, Ms. Lukin.
We appreciate you being here and appreciate your thoughtful
testimony.

Next I would like to turn to Alexandra Smith, who 1is the
Nuclear Waste Program Manager of the Washington State Department

of Ecology.

Thank you very much for joining us today.
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STATEMENT OF ALEXANDRA K. SMITH, NUCLEAR WASTE PROGRAM MANAGER,
WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY

Ms. Smith. Thank you. Chairman Barrasso, Ranking Member
Carper, honorable members of the Committee staff, thank you for
inviting me here today to speak on behalf of Washington State to
these important topics. My name is Alexandra Smith, and I am
the Nuclear Waste Program Manager for the Washington State
Department of Ecology. Our program fulfills the State’s
environmental regulatory role at the Hanford Nuclear Reservation
and also the State’s role under what is known as the Tri-Party
Agreement, which is a Federal facility compliance order that
sets out the respective roles of the Department of Energy, the
Environmental Protection Agency, and the State in relation to
the cleanup at Hanford.

I am also here today representing the other Washington
State departments and programs that play a part in regulating
and cleaning up former defense facilities, Federal facilities,
and Cold War legacy sites in our State.

Washington State has historically played an important role
in our Nation’s defense. However, Washington’s contributions to
national defense and security have come at a cost to our
resources and citizens. To this day, contamination at these

Federal facilities has significantly impacted our land and
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groundwater, posing very real and ongoing threats to human
health and Washington’s environment.

The Hanford Nuclear Reservation is the most significant
example of this, as the more than 40 years of nuclear weapons
production at this site left it the largest and most complex
environmental cleanup in the Country. In addition to Hanford,
Washington is home to approximately 500 Formerly Used Defense
Sites in need of remediation, as well as active military
installations that are on the Superfund National Priorities List
in need of remediation.

The State of Washington and Federal agencies like the
Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Defense,
Department of Energy, and the Corps of Engineers, play vital
roles in cleaning up this environmental legacy of the Cold War.
The Federal agencies have provided essential resources for
moving these cleanups forward either through direct spending on
cleanups or through pass-through funds to the State.

However, proposals in the President’s budget blueprint that
call for significant cuts to these agencies’ budgets could slow
or stop cleanup progress altogether in communities that have
been waiting decades for the risks associated with these sites
to be abated, and could also impair the State’s ability to

fulfill its role at these sites. If Federal agencies are unable
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to fulfill their environmental obligations to our State,
Washington does not have the resources to fill the void.

As an example of the challenges, Hanford’s 40 years of
weapons production during the Cold War left more than 130
million cubic yards of contaminated soil and debris, 1,000
contaminated buildings, and more than 72 square miles of
groundwater contamination under the site that flows towards the
Columbia River, which is a source of drinking water for local
communities as well as irrigation water for local agriculture.

In addition, more than 56 million gallons of high level
nuclear wastes are to this day stored in 177 aging tanks onsite.
More than 67 of those tanks have leaked, releasing upwards of
one million gallons of high level radicactive and chemical waste
to the ground. Overall, Hanford has two-thirds of the Nation’s
high level nuclear waste by volume, is the most contaminated
nuclear site in the Country, and its 586 square mile site is the
Nation’s largest environmental cleanup. Recent estimates have
put total cleanup costs over the life cycle of the cleanup to
over $120 billion, and the cleanup effort is expected to run
through 2070 under current estimates.

Cleanup activities at Hanford are the joint responsibility
of EPA and the State. The State implements the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act at the site with oversight by EPA,

and EPA is the lead regulatory authority under CERCLA. EPA has
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final authority over remedial decisions made under CERCLA at
Hanford’s four National Priorities List sites, while DOE is the
owner and operator at the site responsible for implementing the
cleanup.

Since 1989, cleanup progress at Hanford has been directly
correlated to the availability of funds for cleanup. Washington
State is very concerned that proposed Federal budget cuts could
negatively impact the already slow progress on Hanford cleanup.

I did want to note that when it comes to the Department of
Energy’s budget, historically the Department of Energy’s
environmental management budget has fallen short of its
obligations nationwide to fulfill its cleanup obligations, and
under the current resolution funding, it wvirtually guarantees
DOE is unable to meet its legal obligations at the site. Any
reduction will slow cleanup progress further.

The longer it takes for cleanup to happen at these sites,
the more money it takes for DOE to simply meet its obligation to
maintain the sites’ nuclear safety, which means maintaining its
aging infrastructure in a safe and secure condition; and that
means less money goes to cleanup. Currently, 40 percent of
DOE’s Hanford budget goes to simply keeping the site safe, with
the remaining 60 percent going to cleanup. Any reduction in
DOE’s Hanford budget comes out of the funds available for

cleanup, not the funds necessary to keep the site safe.
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If EPA’s budget for Hanford work is reduced, there is
similar risk that progress on the remaining CERCLA cleanup at
the site will slow or stop, because EPA has the exclusive
authority to make remedial decisions under CERCLA. If EPA does
not have the resources to dedicate to the cleanup, there is
little the State can do to fill the void. A slowing of CERCLA
cleanups at Hanford could also slow progress on cleaning sites
up under RCRA because the State and EPA are trying to combine
the RCRA and CERCLA cleanups, allowing the CERCLA cleanups to
lead the effort. Delays in the CERCLA cleanups necessarily
means delay in the RCRA cleanups.

EPA also provides oversight and technical assistance for
the State under RCRA. 1If EPA loses resources in the RCRA
program, the State will lose that technical expertise as well as
a backstop if the State is ever unable to fulfill its RCRA role
at the site.

I apologize, I am going over time here.

In addition, EPA has historically taken on the large and
technically complex enforcement actions at the site and the
State does not have the resources to fill that void if EPA is
unable to do so.

In sum, on Hanford, it has historically stood out for the
slow pace of cleanup. However, a 30 percent or larger cut to

EPA’s budget could mean this already progress towards cleanup by
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2070 would go even more slowly, and the local communities would
continue to face risks from the site well beyond our and even
our children’s lifetime.

I also wanted to touch briefly on the other Cold War legacy
sites in Washington. There are more than 500 Formerly Used
Defense Sites there. EPA plays a role in oversight on those and
the Corps of Engineers plays a role on the actual cleanup.
Washington’s concern that reduction in those funds will also
lead to a de-prioritization of the cleanup of those fund sites.

Finally, the State is concerned that its own work could be
impacted by the reductions in the EPA funding. Federal funding
accounts for approximately 34 percent of Washington’s Department
of Ecology budget, with 80 percent of that funding coming from
EPA. Superfund grants, State cooperative agreements, and EPA
funded cleanups are potentially impacted by proposed cuts, and
the State’s categorical grants that support air and water
quality work would be significantly impacted.

In conclusion, Washington has long played host to vital
national defense facilities, doing our part to ensure the
Country’s safety and security, yet our citizens and resources
have been left with a harmful environmental legacy of those
sites. The pace of their cleanups has rarely been quick, but to
date it has been steady. Without adequate funding from the

Federal Government to fulfill this cleanup obligation,
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Washington fears progress at these facilities will slow or stop,
forcing Washington’s citizens to continue to live with the
environmental risks associates with these national defense
sites.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to testify.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Smith follows:]
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Senator Barrasso. Well, thank you very much for your
testimony.

We will turn to Senator Sullivan with questions.

Senator Sullivan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for allowing me
to ask a few questions before I go to preside. I do want to
associate my initial remarks with what Senator Carper mentioned
at the outset of his remarks.

As this Committee knows, I was a strong supporter of
Administrator Pruitt, and I am glad to see him in the position
that he is in. He did make commitments to many of us during the
confirmation process on certain issues that weren’t reflected in
the President’s budget, and I think that is a bit of an issue
from my perspective. If you make commitments in a private
setting, meetings, or in a public hearing, it is an important
deal when you are trying to get confirmed, and we expect those
commitments to be kept. So I think that is a message I want to
make sure the EPA hears loud and clearly.

Ms. Lukin, thank you very much for your testimony. I want
to raise a couple issues that relate to your testimony and what
you talked about. The one seems to be a very difficult kind of
Catch-22, where Alaska Native Corporations receive land from the
Federal Government. It is contaminated, and then all of a
sudden the Native Corporations who are trying to develop this

land -- it is very difficult to develop any land economically
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when it is contaminated -- not only don’t have the opportunity
to develop the land for economic opportunity, but all of a
sudden are looking like they are on the hook for CERCLA
liability. $So it is kind of a double whammy.

The land was supposed to be given, the part of the deal
ANCSA was to enable Alaska Natives to develop their land
economically. You can’t do that because it is contaminated.
And, B, now the Feds are telling you that you are liable. So it
is almost like a lose-lose, as opposed to a win-win.

Can you talk about that a little bit more and how we in the
Congress could fix that, which is clearly, from my perspective,
a double unfair situation to you and the Alaska Native people
you are representing?

Ms. Lukin. Senator, thank you very much for the gquestion.
So regarding CERCLA, there is a section called Section 107 (a),
and it basically says that we are on the hook to clean up any
preexisting sites. And what we found, because ANCs are
currently, under Federal law, legally liable to clean up this
federally caused preexisting contamination, that some ANCs are
unwilling to come forward and say we have a contaminated site on
our lands and it needs to be cleaned up. Instead, they are
living with that contamination and not notifying the proper
authorities, because basically they are afraid they are going to

have to pay for this cleanup and they can’t afford to do so.
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EPA does have a policy that says it won’t pursue cleanup
under Section 107 (a). However, that policy does not create any
legal rights for Alaska Native Corporations. And the EPA did
reserve the right to depart from that policy on a case-by-case
basis, so although the policy exists, it is not exclusively
helpful.

Senator Sullivan. So you can’t rely on it.

Ms. Lukin. We cannot rely on that policy currently. So it
is really my recommendation and the recommendation of Alaska
Native Corporations that Congress provide Alaska Native
Corporations protection under the law from Section 107 (a) of
CERCLA.

Senator Sullivan. Well, I think that would be something
that would be very fair.

And, Mr. Chairman, I would like to work with you and
Senator Carper and other members of the Committee to try and
work on something like that, where, again, it seems to me the
point of ANCSA was to help promote the economic opportunities
for Alaska Native people, and this kind of loophole, I guess,
undermines that.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Sullivan.

Senator Carper.
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Senator Carper. This is gripping testimony. It is hard
not to be affected by it. Not infrequently here in this
Committee we talk about the Golden Rule; how would we want to be
treated if we were in somebody else’s shoes who is my neighbor.
And, boy, that is ringing in my ears as I listen to your
testimony today.

Ms. Smith, there are, I believe, 500 Formerly Used Defense
Sites and I think 51 or so Superfund sites in Washington State
alone. Hanford Nuclear Reservation alone contains such a toxic
stew of contamination that four separate Superfund sites were
designated there, I think, if I am not incorrect.

The President’s budget includes a $1 billion cut to the
Army Corps’ budget. That is over 15 percent. The President’s
budget also proposes a 30 percent cut of $330 million to the
Superfund account.

I am looking for a yes or no answer here. Do you agree
that there will be fewer and slower cleanups of toxic sites like
Hanford if Congress goes along with these proposed Draconian
cuts?

Ms. Smith. Yes, Senator.

Senator Carper. Thank you.

I have a question, if I could, for Ms. Lukin and Mr.

Frederick. Do either of you disagree with Ms. Smith’s response?
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Just keep it simple. Do you agree or disagree with her
response?

Mr. Frederick. Mr. Chairman, with respect to the missile
site cleanups funded under the Corps of Engineers, no, we
wouldn’t feel any affect.

Senator Carper. Please.

Ms. Lukin. No.

Senator Carper. Okay, thank you.

If I could, General Semonite and Mr. Breen, I would like to
ask you to provide a list for the record indicating which site
cleanups in which States would be slowed or cut if Congress
agrees to the President’s fiscal year 2018 budget proposal. If
you would do that for us, we would appreciate it.

Back to Ms. Smith. In his confirmation hearing, and
Senator Sullivan alluded to this, Mr. Pruitt said, “State
regulators possess the resources and expertise to enforce our
environmental laws” and said that he thinks that “EPA needs to
provide more assistance to States.” Surprisingly, though, the
President’s fiscal 2018 budget proposes to cut State grants by a
remarkable, as I said earlier, 45 percent, or some $482 million.

And I just ask of you, Ms. Smith, do you agree that the
State of Washington will be severely limited and may be unable
to do the Superfund work it is doing if Congress agrees to these

cuts?
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Ms. Smith. Yes, Senator.

Senator Carper. Thank you.

You all are terrific to be here and I just applaud the work
that you do with your lives. Let me start with you, General.
Thinking about what you said and the other witnesses have said,
give us one good takeaway where you think you agree. Like say
we all agree on this. Just give me one really good takeaway
where you think there is broad consensus.

General Semonite. Sir, I will go first. I think we all
agree, or I certainly hear a consensus of the commitment of the
Federal Government to continue to try to clean these up. I
think it is going to be primarily limited by resources, not by a
will of not wanting to do it. And the challenge is going to be
where are those priorities and where is the risk if we don’t.
But I think all of us are committed to continue to be able to
put America’s dollars back in to fix some of these things that

just were not done properly in the earlier years.

Senator Carper. Thank you, sir.
Mr. Breen, consensus. Just very briefly. Major point.
Mr. Breen. I suspect there is broad agreement that these

are programs, whether they are developed by States or Tribes or
the Federal Government, that can be both good for the

environment and good for health and good for jobs and good for
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growth. It is a broad improvement in our well-being in many
years.

Senator Carper. Good. Thank you.

Mr. Frederick?

Mr. Frederick. Mr. Chairman, I would agree with the
previous two speakers. It is absolutely something that we
believe the Corps of Engineers, with respect to the Formerly
Used Defense Sites, have committed to under the Department of
Defense. We believe it holds essentially Government to the same
level of accountability for cleaning up the environment that the
rest of us are held to, including industry and the private
sector.

Senator Carper. All right, thanks.

My time has expired.

Ms. Lukin, just very briefly. Very briefly consensus, big
point, major point.

Ms. Lukin. Thank you for the question. I am absolutely
thrilled to see the interest and desire to work with our
organizations to clean up our lands. I would love to see the
Army Corps of Engineers, the EPA, the BLM, and other Federal
agencies better coordinate in cleanup efforts, and I would be
happy to talk with them further about that. Thank you.

Senator Carper. Thank you so much.

Ms. Smith?
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Ms. Smith. I think everybody agrees on the importance of
these cleanups to the local communities not just in terms of
environmental protection, but also to putting the contaminated
lands back to productive use, and their economic importance as
well.

Senator Carper. Thank you so much.

Thank you all.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Carper.

Senator Rounds.

Senator Rounds. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Lt. General Semonite, I have heard concerns over the Black
Hills Ordnance Depot. That is a site that is near Edgemont,
South Dakota. 1In 2016 the Army Corps installed a barbed wire
fence to protect the public from explosive hazards; however,
many residents feel that these fences are not adequate to
protect the public from explosives and toxic contamination that
may be located on the site. Can you give me an update on the
safety measure the Corps may be taking at this site, any public
outreach that you have done or that you plan to do to make
certain that the public feels secure with the safety measures
taken by the Corps?

I recognize that you have a number of sites out there. If
you are not prepared to provide that to me at this time, I would

take that for the record as well, sir.
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General Semonite. Thank you, Senator. South Dakota does
have 58 different FUDS projects out there. We have about 25
remaining, so that means that the bill to be able to really
remediate these in the right way is about a $45 million bill.

Specifically on that one, we have had some protective
measures put in place. We are concerned that if there are sites
that we can’t get to in time, we have to be able to make sure
that not only do we have some type of a physical barrier, but
also this is a training piece as well. So we invest a
significant amount of money on to be able to make sure that we
are doing community outreach and to let people know safety. The
last thing we want to have is somebody to get hurt in one of
these sites.

I don’t know exactly whether that fence is to the standard
that meets certainly the intent of South Dakota but, if not, I
will certainly find out and get back to you and let you know
where we are at on that.

Senator Rounds. Thank you, sir.

Lt. General Semonite and Mr. Breen, portions of Ellsworth
Air Force Base, in Meade and Pennington Counties in South
Dakota, are listed on the EPA’s National Priorities List due to
petroleum products and waste solvent contamination. Can you

give me an update on the cleanup efforts at Ellsworth? And if
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you are not familiar with them, I would also take that report
for the record as well.

Mr. Breen. Thank you, Senator. I can start and I will
turn to the Lieutenant General to see if he would like to add.

The Ellsworth Air Force Base is indeed on the National
Priorities List. Actually, the Air Force completed construction
in 1999. As a Federal facility, the actual carrying out and
paying for the work would be done by the Air Force, not by the
EPA.

After construction was completed in 1999, we moved to
partial de-listings at the site; that is, some parts are
actually able to be taken off of the Superfund list and we did
partial de-listings in 2006 and 2012. What is the only
remaining portion requiring focus is the groundwater, still very
important, and the issue there is the TCE, trichloroethylene,
and its breakdown products, together with one area mixed with
petroleum. In addition, studies for perfluorinated compounds, a
comparatively new, emerging contaminant, are underway as well as
one for dioxane -- I am doing chemistry now, sir -- and
munitions.

But the point is that this continuing work is in progress
or awaiting funding for the Air Force’s taking the next steps.

Senator Rounds. Okay.

General Semonite?
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General Semonite. Sir, I have nothing to add to that.

Senator Rounds. Thank you.

Mr. Breen, I also want to take just a step back from the
specific sites and ask a more general question regarding the
Superfund cleanup program itself.

I know that there is reprioritization going on at the EPA.
We recognize that. We also know that in the President’s budget
there was a reduced amount which was being proposed to be funded
at the EPA level. Can you give me and this Committee some
insight as to the planning or the discussions that went into
place and the priorities which the Department or the EPA is
planning with regard to where you are putting your priorities
now versus what it might have been under the previous
Administration’s budget proposal?

Mr. Breen. Thank you. So, first, in the site-by-site
prioritization we have a longstanding practice which is in place
now for probably 20 years or more of funding those sites that
have an imminent endangerment; making sure those are taken care
of. Then we fund sites that are ongoing, where construction has
been going on year-to-year. And then we take up new sites with
what funding we have after that. And it is often the case that
we can’t take up as many new sites as we would like, and that

has been the case for a very long time.
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In terms of the broader picture, we are looking for
efficiencies; we are looking for ways we can go deeper into
using accounts that the Treasury Department has allowed us to
set up. These are interest-bearing savings accounts with the
U.S. Treasury where we have put money that defendants have given
us and we have deposited there and we can draw on. Looking for
ways to draw on that. And because Congress has made Superfund
no-year money, we don’t have to spend every year what is given
to us in any particular year, so we can look to prior years’
funding in order to fund needs in future needs. So we will be
looking for efficiencies administratively, efficiencies in the
way we move funding among accounts and more in order to get as
much progress for the public as we can.

Senator Rounds. Thank you. My time has expired.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Rounds.

Senator Booker.

Senator Booker. Mr. Chairman, I really appreciate this.
This hearing I am deeply grateful for, just because of the
reality in my State we have 91 FUDS sites, 7 FUSRAP sites.
Nearly half are still awaiting cleanup. Every State has
Superfund sites. I have 114 in New Jersey. And I have to say
this is something that was astonishing, because I didn’t know it

before I came to become a Senator, that we as a Nation had a
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bipartisan commitment. Ronald Reagan reauthorized Superfund
monies to clean up these messes. It was voted on by members in
the Senate here. But that has now lapsed. We don’t even have
the money. Superfund sites in America are going up. And what
makes these sort of more astonishing to me, Mr. Chairman, is
that it is the mess that we made. The fundamental thing, all I
need to know in life I learned in kindergarten: clean up the
mess you made.

But this is what is even more stunning to me about the
situation, is that we now have longitudinal evidence, data to
know what happens to human beings that live adjacent to these
sites. So just to look at the studies, right now, for Superfund
sites, 11 million Americans and 3 million to 4 million kids live
within 1 mile of a Superfund site. And I have families that are
living close to these FUDS sites as well. And now we know that
mothers living within 1 mile of an unremediated Superfund site
have a 20 percent greater rate, greater incident of being born
with birth defects. Studies have shown they have substantially
higher rates of autism as well.

So here we have sites that we made that have deeply
hazardous, harmful substances to them, and we are missing an
opportunity to do right by the children of America, pregnant
women, elderly. And more than that, not only that moral

urgency, but we could actually create jobs as well. As a former
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mayor, I know when you remediate these sites, then they actually
create economic opportunity for communities. It is like a win-
win-win for the economy and for the health of our families.

So it is beyond me that we don’t have more urgency as a
Nation to clean up this mess that in many cases we ourselves
made and now are inflicting on families and children. The
autism rates in New Jersey, the children being born with
defects, talk to those parents; and if any of us in Congress had
families and had children living within a mile of a Superfund
site or one of these sites, and, unfortunately, I live within a
mile or so of a Superfund site.

So this is a funding issue, and I would like to know,
Lieutenant General, would funding for FUDS and FUSRAP
immediately expedite the cleanup process? Yes or no?

General Semonite. Sir, I think that we certainly have
capacity to do more. So additional funding would in fact have
an impact on cleaning these up faster.

Senator Booker. So this is a matter of the United States
Government, which made this mess, and we are not investing in
cleaning up the mess we made and there are people today who are
pregnant, people today that are expecting kids 1living close to
these sites facing this danger; and today there are people that

desperately need work that could be going to work doing this.
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You know, a GAO study found appropriations to Superfund
sites declined by nearly 50 percent from 1999 to 2013, meaning
fewer cleanups.

So, Mr. Breen, it is my understanding that the EPA has
shovel-ready sites that could be cleaned up if sufficient funds
were available. So, again, in your opinion, is this a funding
problem?

Mr. Breen. Thank you, sir. And I will just point out with
some pride that that statistic that you pointed out about the
birth defects is actually in a review studied by Professor Janet
Currie of Princeton University in your home State. So there is

some connection to New Jersey.

Senator Booker. I will never look askance at Jersey pride
statistics.

[Laughter. ]

Senator Booker. Thank you very much, sir. But it is a

funding issue, yes?

Mr. Breen. Well, what we know is a number of things. One
is that it has been true for some time that EPA will often get
to the end of a fiscal year and have sites ready for funding
that there is not funding to do those sites. That has been true
for many years more often than not.

What we also know is that there is room to look for

efficiencies and that Superfund is enforcement first. And we
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know that Superfund money is no-year money. So there are lot of
ways we can look for ways to get more done, and we will be doing
exactly that.

Senator Booker. Okay, so my time has expired.

I just want to say for all of this talk in the Executive
Branch and the Legislative Branch about investing in homeland
security, this is about protecting our homeland from toxic
threats to families and children.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Booker.

Senator Inhofe.

Senator Inhofe. You know, Mr. Chairman, I am reminded and
have quoted Ronald Reagan before when he said there is nothing
closer to life eternal on the face of this earth than a
Government agency once formed. And he went on to talk about
things that have to be done and can be done, and every time
there is an effort to try to have efficiencies in Government,
that that is they will pick out the one thing that is of greater
concern to everyone and use that.

I want to say to you, Mr. Breen, I appreciate two things
that you said in your opening statements, as well as responding
to questions. I really appreciate it. First of all you are
saying yes, we are, right now, looking for efficiencies, and for

efficiencies knowing that there are, in any bureaucracy, areas
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where we can find efficiencies, we can find waste and abuse and
all of that. I applaud you for it.

And the second thing is when Scott Pruitt was up for his
nomination, he made the comment over and over again, he did so
before this Committee and elsewhere, about the significance of
the cleanups and his effort to really concentrate and get things
done. I have to admit that I have only been over there once
since he has been there, and that was yesterday. He took me
into the long table room. I suspect there is a seat for you at
that long table when he was talking about the priorities that he
had and how quickly he is really getting into talking to you
guys who know more about it than we do up here in establishing
priorities.

So I appreciate the fact that you have made those comments.

I think also, I wrote this down when you said it, General,
it sounds like you are doing a pretty good job. Correct me if I
am wrong, if I got this down wrong, but 5,357 cleanup sites, and
now 3,513 are either closed out or in the monitoring status. 1Is
that accurate?

General Semonite. Yes, sir. And I think the other thing
that goes back to the efficiency piece, we continue to try to
find ways of continuing to get more value out of those funds
that do come in; also to be postured for year-end money. And

there are several times when we have contracts that we can put
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money on so that if in fact it is unobligated somewhere else, we
are able to go back in and be able to make sure we are
optimizing the use of that money through the contract vehicle we
have.

Senator Inhofe. Yes. Yes. And there are some other
things, before I got distracted on that, that I was going to
mention, but I do want to mention one, and that is Tar Creek.
Nod if you have ever heard of Tar Creek. One. All right.

Tar Creek was the number one site in America at that time.
Historically, it was a big mining area in northeastern Oklahoma,
actually extended up into Kansas and over into Missouri. But it
was a huge thing. And the mining that took place there took
place back in the 1940s, and we didn’t have any really good,
accurate records as to what was underneath the ground. Later on
we found there was an elementary school that any day could have
caved in with all those kids there, and we were able to get into
there. Well, that was a major thing.

I have to say that even though this was not a site, a
former site that you would be dealing with, General, you still
did. We had a lot of activity from the Corps and from all the
agencies that worked together. It kind of reminds me a little
bit of the disaster that we faced in Oklahoma just last week

when we had this terrible fire, the worst in history, and
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everybody did come together and did a good job. That is exactly
what happened to Tar Creek.

So I want to say to all of the players it really did work,
and it worked successfully. And if we hadn’t gotten on it, you
don’t know how many of those little kids at that elementary
school might have sustained really serious problems.

So I think it is sometimes important to talk about the good
job that is being done. I appreciate it and I do think in this
new Administration you are going to have a new concentration,
less concentration on trying to build sciences and more
concentration on getting things done. And I thank you for your
testimony.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Inhofe.

Senator Cardin.

Senator Cardin. Mr. Chairman, I first want to thank you
for holding this hearing. I think it is an extremely important
subject. I was listening to the testimony from my office
because I had an appointment and I was here as we started the
hearing. I wanted to thank all of our witnesses for their
commitment to our Country and to our environment.

I just really want to bring attention to two sites we have
in Maryland. One is a site that qualifies for Formerly Utilized

Sites Remediation Action Program, which is located in South
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Baltimore, 260 acre site that was formerly used by W. R. Grace.
And we are working on that site and I appreciate the work that
is being done.

The other is a more recent identified problem and does not
come under that program, and that is the site of Bainbridge,
which I think received a great deal of attention. This is an
issue I just want to bring to the Committee’s attention because
it is extremely frustrating, Mr. Chairman. I know the work that
you have done to try to have the right relationship between
Government and the private sector.

Here is a situation in which the Navy used an 1,186 acre
site in Cecil County, Maryland from 1942 to 1976. The property
is contaminated, badly contaminated by asbestos and lead, and
there has been some cleanup done there. The Navy transferred
the site to the Bainbridge Development Company in 2000. That is
17 years ago, Mr. Chairman. And as part of that transfer the
deed made it clear that the Navy was responsible for the
cleanup. There was no dispute about that. Of course, the Navy
would also be responsible under Federal law. So there is no
question that there is contractual responsibility as well as
legislative responsibility for the cleanup.

The Bainbridge Development Corporation has made some
efforts with developers to develop a mixed-use property. It has

been determined not suitable for that purpose because of the
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environmental contamination of asbestos and lead. And there has
been negotiations going back and forth for these 17 years. Just
last year there were some additional monies made available for
soil investigation.

Mr. Chairman, this is very frustrating, that after 17 years
we are still evaluating what the problem is on a property that
has transferred. 1In Cecil County, to put this into economic
development would be critically important for their economy.

And everyone is together; local government is fine with what is
trying to be done. The holdup is the environmental restoration
and Navy carrying out its responsibility. And I know they have
budget problems. I get that. But 2000, the transfer of
property and still not have it ready for its appropriate use?

So our office is working very hard with the Department of
Defense and with Cecil County to try to find a remedy here to
move this along, but I just really wanted this Committee to be
aware. It is not directly related to some of the subjects we
are talking about, but I think it is related.

And I see our witnesses shaking their heads affirmatively,
and I would just welcome any thoughts you may have as to how we
can move these procedures more efficiently so that this type of
property can be put back in use, as the community wants it put
back in use, which was formerly used by the Department of

Defense.
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Mr. Breen, do you want to respond?

Mr. Breen. Yes, sir. So you are exactly right. As a
former Navy site, it is the Navy’s responsibility to address it.
EPA is able to offer some help, which we did at this site.

There was a Brownfields Program which is not part of this
hearing, but part of this Committee’s jurisdiction. Pursuant to
the Brownfields Program, in 2010, we performed an investigation
of what are the issues at the site, and we found that there are
both chemicals and heavy metals at the site as a result of that
Brownfields review that did affect significant areas. So we
were able to bring that technical assistance to bear. But, as
you said, it is not on the NPL, not on the National Priorities
List, so not an EPA lead.

Senator Cardin. And this is not an EPA area, I recognize
that; it is more DOD.

General, do you have any suggestions here?

General Semonite. Sir, I don’t have any specific knowledge
of that site, but you have a great point, and that is that we
cannot afford, as a Nation, for every one of us to work in a
stovepipe based on some certain account and the authorities in
that account; we have to share this body of knowledge of when we
learn something. And if we are learning something on a FUDS or
a FUSRAP site and we can somehow make sure we export that

knowledge across and we can all work together, somewhere we are
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going to find better value. So we can certainly take a look at
it. I don’t know where the Navy is at on this one, but I think
that if there are some things that we can learn from all the
other 5,400 sites we are doing, and be able to make sure somehow
those things can be wrapped in, the Nation is going to benefit.

Senator Cardin. Thank you. I appreciate that response.

We will follow up.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you very much, Senator Cardin.

Senator Capito?

Senator Capito. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

And thank all of you. I am sorry I missed your testimony.
Probably Senator Inhofe told you that the Commerce Committee is
meeting at the same exact time, so we are sort of jumping around
here.

This is a bit off topic, but since I have General Semonite
here, I am going to lodge the question, because I wanted to take
the opportunity to talk about something important that we have
been working with the Corps on, and that is the Appalachian
Corridor H. This issue has to do with a Section 404 permit of
that project between Kerens and Parsons, West Virginia. The
subcontractor for West Virginia DOT is working on this section,
submitted the application October 13, 2016, and is frustrated it

hasn’t heard. This morning, however, we did get notice,
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following an inquiry from my office, that the Huntington Corps
District informed my staff that they will be opening a 15-day
public comment period on the permit modification. So I want to
thank the Huntington Corps for that. It is very important if
you are trying to drive from here to the beautiful ski regions
in West Virginia over to Canaan Valley or Snowshoe, Corridor H
is extremely important.

So basically what I would like from you, General, really is
that you would ensure to me that the public comment will in fact
open when our local Corps told that it would, and pledge to kind
of prioritize this project once that begins.

General Semonite. Senator, I don’t know exactly that
permit. We certainly are committed to continue to stay on these
timelines. I think the whole Nation is continuing to look at
permitting. We need to do this in a right manner based on our
authorities and our statutes. But, on the other hand, we have
to be able to make sure we are expeditious in this. So I will
go back and double-check with the Huntington commander and find
out where we are at on it. But unless there is some reason that
we can’t do that because of a regulatory issue or something, we
want to be aggressive and continue to do permitting in an
efficient manner, but also to be able to make sure that we are

being responsive back to the applicant.
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Senator Capito. Thank you so much. I think, too, a yes is
always what they want, but even a no is helpful, because you can
either, A, restart or abandon the project, whichever direction.
But being held in limbo is costly. So I am very pleased to hear
you say that.

Another question, again to you, General, is on the topic.
On the list of one of the FUDS sites for West Virginia, almost
70 percent of the Corps work is focused on a project that I have
actually toured. It is called West Virginia Ordnance Worksite.
It is in Mason County. It was an old storage facility for all
kinds of different weapons and chemicals and ammunitions. It
would be a good history site, I think, for our younger people to
see what was going on in World War II and how the whole Country
was pulling together.

But it mentions that one of the areas that is going on is
long-term management. I was Jjust wondering what does long-term
management mean and how does that unfold for a site such as
this?

General Semonite. So, Senator, if in fact there are some
lower priority sites, and I hate to use that worse because they
are all critical, but if there are some that we just can’t get
to it because of lack of funding, then we have to be able to
make sure that we are addressing that from a life safety

perspective, and also make sure that we are educating.
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Conversely, if there are sites that have actually been
remediated to a given standard, it doesn’t mean we just take our
eye off the ball. So we have a five-year renewal process where
we go back out, we continue to look at that, we continue to do
outreach back in there.

So I think on this one I have to get back with you and find
out exactly where we are at on it, but what we say on long-term
management is to be able to make sure we continue to be able to
make sure there is not any new issues that come up with a site
and we continue to have some degree of accountability back in to
watch what happens on that site.

Senator Capito. Well, one good thing about that particular
site, too, is there are some contractors in and around that site
where it has been cleaned, so that there is some economic
activity in the local area; it is not just sitting there without
any kind of a use. There are some folks that are repurposing
that, because it is quite a vast site and it has a primo spot
because it is right on the Ohio River.

General Semonite. Yes, Senator. And I can add it looks
like we are continuing to do a treatability study on one of the
specific sites that is called 0OU-4 to be able to make sure that
we are looking at the technology to be able to remediation
there. We are doing the long-term modeling I talked about, and

monitoring, and we are continuing to work with EPA 3 to be able
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to look at restoring groundwater to drinking water standards in
the manufacturing area. So our guys are working very closely on
that and we will continue to monitor it closely.

Senator Capito. Right. I appreciate that.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Capito.

Senator Harris. Good morning.

Mr. Breen, according to the GAO, it can take up to 10 years
to clean up a Superfund site. Do you agree with that, or does
it take longer?

Mr. Breen. So I actually am not sure which GAO study you
are talking about, but there are sites which would take longer
than 10 years.

Senator Harris. And, on average, is that how long it

takes?
Mr. Breen. I don’t know.
Senator Harris. Okay. If you could follow up with me,

that would be great.

Mr. Breen. Sure.

Senator Harris. And you probably know that California has
the second largest number, second only to my friend, the Senator
from New Jersey. I believe we have 98 active Superfund sites.

I would like to ask you, and perhaps, General Semonite, you

might have some information about some specific sites. 1In
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particular, starting with Oxnard, California, we have a site
there where a company, Halaco, started dumping in 1965 and there
was a 1997 cease and desist order from the Army Corps which was
ignored for about three decades, so there was continuing
pollution in the coastal wetlands. And then in 2007 the EPA
finally listed the site as a Superfund site.

The cleanup is ongoing, but I think you would probably
agree it should not take that long. So my question is, given
this experience, what plans do the EPA and the Army Corps have
to put in place a process so Superfund investigations can begin
as soon as the Federal agency notices the contamination?

Mr. Breen. Thank you, Senator. I can offer some, but I am
going to suggest we also get you more detail for the record.

Senator Harris. Right.

Mr. Breen. You are right that we listed the site in 2007,
and one of the first things we did was to undertake what we call
removal actions. These are short-term actions to deal with the
most pressing things. So we undertook removal actions in 2007
and 2010. We demolished two buildings and we stabilized the
site and we consolidated the waste so that it was less spread
out.

While the site planning is undergoing, we made a
Brownfields job training grant of $200,000 to the City of

Oxnard. This is a way in which, then, local residents can get
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the jobs that are being created in their communities. This is
like a triple win, right, good for the EPA, we get people who
know their communities the best; good for the residents; and, of
course, it is good for the site.

In terms of what immediate next steps are planned, I would
best be getting those to you after the hearing.

Senator Harris. Okay, that would be great. I would like
an update on that.

And then, General Semonite, as has been mentioned, we have
many sites that have been active for over 30 years in
California. The USEPA and Cal/EPA have worked together to
investigate and clean up the Sulphur Bank Mercury Mine Superfund
site in Clear Lake, California, it is actually in Lake County,
since 1990. My understanding is the EPA estimates that 2
million cubic yards of mine waste still pollute Clear Lake, and
the EPA has not yet taken significant remedial action, I am
told, to control the contamination in the surrounding
groundwater.

So can you tell me, or Mr. Breen, what the progress is and
the timeline for the cleanup of the Sulphur Bank Mercury Mine
Superfund site?

Mr. Breen. What limited I have on that, Senator, is that
we are recognizing the prospect, the need to address the

possibilities of rainfall, but that we also think steps are in
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place so that if that were to happen we are prepared for it.
But I will get you more on that.

Senator Harris. Okay, I appreciate that.

General, do you have any information about it?

General Semonite. Senator, I think the main thing we are
focused on, you have an awful lot of FUDS sites, so we started
out with 721; we have actually closed 476. So of the 245 left,
your outstanding balance, we probably need about $1.2 billion to
clean those up. We have categorized eight of those as what we
call the scale of two. We re-rank everything through a risk
management database. So you have a couple that are our highest
priorities. The ones that really I want to make sure to
highlight is Elliott. That is one that has been significant.
Several years ago, in 1983, we had two children that were killed
out there, so we have gone back in and cleaned up Tierrasanta,
it is called, and that one we think is very good and we are
monitoring that.

We have cleaned up Mission Trails, so I think that one is
also going well. And the last site we are continuing to work
through right now in investigation, so I will certainly have my
staff get with your staff to be able to make sure you know. And
on any one of these sites we can go in unbelievably deep detail
to show you exactly where it is at, where it is at on the

priority list. Our intent is to never hold anything back. We
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want to be able to be as transparent as possible so you know
what we are doing, what we are not doing, and where we see that
coming through when it comes to potential funding and
requirements.

Senator Harris. That is great. I appreciate that follow-
up. And then you mentioned $1.2 billion you need to deal with
the remaining. Do you see that coming to you, or what is the
challenge there?

General Semonite. So clearly this is probably something of
interest to all of them, but we are just like the other
agencies; we have three different accounts, so the EPA obviously
is the one that is working the Superfund, and I will let Mr.
Breen address that. Clearly, the FUDS is a DOD requirement, so
we continue to articulate our most important risk up through the
DOD budget, and when we see the way the 2018 budget comes out,
we will certainly be able to advise you on where that is at.

But at any given point we want to continue to be able to get
visibility of where the highest risk is, and some of these like
Elliott is ones that we want to continue to be able to make sure
that DOD leadership knows the risk that is out there.

And then, finally, the FUSRAP sites are back into really
the civil works budget, another completely different pot of
money, but that is where we have to continue to champion those

as we go up through the civil works account and then see where
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the Committee and the Administration prioritizes FUSRAP with
respect to the rest of the civil works account.

Senator Harris. So, Mr. Chairman, I just have one more.

Senator Barrasso. Yes, please.

Senator Harris. So what I would also appreciate by way of
follow-up is, given the skinny budget that has been proposed,
which sites in California you believe would not be addressed if
that budget is actually the budget that we have to work with.

General Semonite. And I will definitely give you that, but
the real short answer is if we go from worst is number 1 down to
number 8, right now we are really keying on the sites that are
number 2. You have eight of those. Those are the ones that we
continue to try to champion, and then we want to continue to

work our way down that list.

Senator Harris. Thank you.
Thank you.
Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Harris.

Mr. Frederick, the Army Corps has proposed no further
action for the Atlas Missile Site 7. It is my understanding
that Wyoming DEQ has not concurred and it believes that further
investigation is necessary in order to support that
determination. Can you comment on that?

Mr. Frederick. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes. There are

some guestions that we have that deal on the technical side of
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things, technical interpretations that have been made by the
Corps with respect to what is going on at that particular
missile site. There is a little bit of an unusual geologic
condition that exists at that site in particular. There is
actually what is referred to as piping in the formation that
contains the groundwater, and this piping is more than likely a
result of animal burrowing, wormholes, things like that. It is
a fairly unique situation. But in that type of condition
groundwater really behaves a little bit differently than what
you would see it behave in when you are dealing with just a
typical sand and gravel aquifer with forced flow. So the piping
essentially directs where the groundwater is going to go and,
thus, any contamination with it as well.

So what we have seen is, in this particular case, where you
would think you would not find any TCE, that is up-gradient from
the missile site, we are actually finding TCE, and we have asked
the Corps to try and help us understand why we would be seeing
it up there. And if we are seeing it there, what does that mean
and where else should we be looking?

Senator Barrasso. Thank you.

So, to that, General Semonite, will the Corps do further
investigation, as requested by the State?

General Semonite. So, sir, two points. First of all, in

your opening statement I think you mentioned that there was a
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perception of an unhealthy attitude with respect to Atlas, and
that for some reason maybe the Corps was trying to do a quick
fix. I have 34,000 employees, and I would put my engineers
against some of the best in the world; and not just because of
technical competence, but because of compassion to do the right
thing for this Nation. So if I ever find somebody who I think
is unhealthy, please notify me personally. The only reason that
we should not be able to do something is just lack of resources
or for some reason we are technically challenged, but it is not
because of an attitude. And I will certainly rectify that if
that is out there.

Now, specifically on No. 7, and I have all 7 here we can
talk about, 3 is a great example. We have some challenges at
Site No. 3. We work side-by-side and Mr. Frederick has been
there for several years, much smarter than I on a lot of these
things. But 3 we found a compromise where we all could come
together. We moved on and I think we have a successful solution
with 3 after $12 million. We are dealing with the same thing on
4 and we can talk about that.

Seven is a good example where we had eight rounds of
sampling performed from 2011 to 2013, and the wells were below
that minimum level for the contaminants concerned. Decision
document to close the site was signed in September 2014; EPA

Region 8 supported that closeout decision. But, again, we want
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to go back in and we don’t want to just close the door. If
there is something we need to do to work with Mr. Frederick and
team, we certainly want to do that to try to find out how to get
the resolution.

I think the bottom line is these are all not simple cookie-
cutter solutions, so we have to take the best science out there
with the best authorities, see what Mr. Frederick’s concerns are
and try to find a consensus.

Senator Barrasso. Mr. Frederick, do you believe that the
Corps is doing what it is doing to help with some specific
sites? Has that been helpful? And where should we proceed from
here?

Mr. Frederick. Mr. Chairman, certainly the issues with
respect to some of the sites that we have had in the past I
think the Corps has made some good efforts to try and address
our concerns. The Lieutenant General mentioned Site 3, for
instance, as an example. Nevertheless, we still have a long way
to go. We have a lot of work to be done in front of us. It is
going to be challenging, and I am sure we will still see
situations where we don’t necessarily agree on the approaches
for delineating sites, characterizing sites, and so forth, but
we will be working hard to make the best of those situations.

Senator Barrasso. Okay.
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So, General, you would agree that Wyoming should be treated
as a peer in this process and its expertise should be given
considerable weight as you make these decisions?

General Semonite. Yes, sir. And I am more than willing to
offer that at some point, if we can’t let the technical staff
work this out, then leaders like Mr. Frederick and I can
certainly come see you with our division commanders, I have one
of the best districts working this particular site, and
certainly lay out where we see it is. And, again, we lean
heavily on EPA’s opinion in all this. It really is the entire
community coming together to figure out what is the right thing
to do for the Nation.

Senator Barrasso. Mr. Frederick, so what would happen if
the Corps doesn’t do the cleanup missile sites, as you suggested
that they make sure get done?

Mr. Frederick. Mr. Chairman, what will happen is that the
TCE is going to continue to leach into groundwater. As it
continues to leach into groundwater, plumes are going to
continue to expand. Ultimately, what we are looking at is a far
more expensive cleanup when we get around to it at some point in
time because the contamination has actually gotten much worse in
size.

Senator Barrasso. So, General, then I can count on you to

make sure that this does not happen?
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General Semonite. Sir, we will take the available science
and make sure we work through an acceptable solution. A good
example is 3. We went down through with a lot of different,

very innovative techniques to be able to make sure we could
contain that plume. We do not want this to leach into the
groundwater. I think we have the same end-state here; we just
have to make sure that the science all puts us in the same
direction.

Senator Barrasso. Mr. Frederick, in your written testimony
you included some recommendations that you said could help
improve things with regard to the cleanup of Cold War legacy
sites such as the Atlas Missile sites. Could you take a few
moments to just elaborate on those?

Mr. Frederick. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Certainly,
cooperation between State and Federal agencies plays a very
important part in determining how quickly and effectively sites
are remediated. We have found that effective components of any
missile site cleanup strategy emphasized real results for the
money spent. They incorporate State requirements early on, they
adequately fund State involvement, and clearly define Federal
and State roles in the cleanup and include opportunities for
public comment, as well.

In addition, consistent application of both State and

Federal regulations and guidance regarding investigation and
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cleanup is highly important. We don’t like to see situations
where we are seeing guidance applied differently in one site or
one State, as opposed to another. There needs to be consistency
in the application so we are all on the same page.

Adequate funding can significantly improve the remediation
process in terms of both time and overall cost. Lack of Federal
funding in particular may lead to technically inadequate and
incomplete site characterizations. Source areas may not be
adequately investigated and defined, and ineffective costly
remedies may be determined from incomplete information.

States play an important role in this process and often
have a great deal of institutional knowledge and familiarity
with the sites and understand State requirements that apply to
the cleanup process. We would encourage those to take advantage
of those opportunities that States can provide to help the
process along.

Finally, the Association of State and Territorial Solid
Waste Management Officials, or ASTSWMO, of which the Wyoming
Department of Environmental Quality is a member, has recently
published a position paper, that I have attached to my written
testimony, on performance-based contracting at Federal
facilities. It also includes a checklist that is intended to
help improve the efficiency and the ultimate performance-based

contracting process. And we would certainly encourage everyone,
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especially the Corps of Engineers, to take a look at that
position paper and give it serious consideration, and involving
States early on in performance-based contracting. We believe
that would also be one way, at least, to make the whole process
more cost-effective and efficient.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you very much.

Senator Markey.

Senator Markey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, very much.

Massachusetts has 47 former military sites that need some
form of investigation and potential remediation; potential cost
of $126 million. We have at least 10 Superfund sites that will
lose access to critical cleanup services. And we have a Trump
Administration which is proposing a $1 billion cut in the Corps
of Engineers’ budget and slashing the entire EPA budget by
nearly a third. $So that is just so irresponsible, because these
individual communities, they are left with a legacy that they
didn’t create. Irresponsible kind of management ultimately
created these problems, both in Superfund and in the problems
that the Army Corps looks at, and they don’t have enough money
to deal with it.

We ran into the same thing in the Reagan Administration.
What they did was they really harbored an animus towards the
Superfund program and they just began defunding. They named

Anne Gorsuch as the head of the EPA, Rita Lavelle as the head of
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the Superfund program, and one of the top five sites in America
was the Woburn site that I represented, which ultimately became
the subject of a movie and a book called A Civil Action. And in
1986 I had to release a report called Deadly Delay; hat the EPA
was doing deliberately in Woburn, kind of slowing it down;
notwithstanding the number of children who had contracted
leukemia, the number of families that had been totally
irreparably harmed. And all we are seeing here is just a
repetition, this whole idea that you can attack an agency in
general without ultimately impacting the lives of ordinary
people.

So, Ms. Smith, let me begin with you. What do you think
the impact is going to be of ultimately extending the deadlines
that it will take in order to clean up these sites and what the
impact is on the public health and safety of people who live in
those neighborhoods?

Ms. Smith. Thank you, Senator, for the gquestion. As I
indicated before, in Washington State in particular, and at the
Hanford site in particular, delays in cleanup progress mean just
unacceptable lengths of cleanup. Hanford is currently scheduled
to be cleaned up by 2070, and we have seen some budget
indicators that that could go beyond and well into the year
3,000, which seems unfathomable. And it does place unacceptable

risks on both the local community and the local resources.
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Senator Markey. It absolutely does not seem unfathomable
to me. I issued a report in 1987 on the Hanford Reservation and
on the lack of progress that was being made. That was denial.
That was deadly delay right there. They knew what was going on;
they knew what they had left behind. The military didn’t want
to deal with it; they didn’t want it to come out of their
budget. They need more bombs over here that Hanford had been
producing, but they don’t want to then deal with the
consequences left behind for the public.

So how devastating will this be to you, General, in terms
of your ability to be able to deal with all of these sites that
are under the Army Corps Jjurisdiction?

General Semonite. So, sir, we do deal with three different
types of accounts. Clearly, there is Superfund, FUSRAP, and
FUDS, so all of those are different funding streams.

Senator Markey. What does FUDS stand for?

General Semonite. So, sir, FUDS is Formerly Used Defense
Sites.

Senator Markey Formerly used, now abused, military sites,
meaning the military just walking away from it. Formerly. That
is nice, FUDS. And what is the middle one?

General Semonite. FUSRAP, sir.

Senator Markey. What does that stand for?

General Semonite. I have it here. It is a long acronym.
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Senator Markey. But the name of what you describe will

tell us what it is.

General Semonite. Formerly Used Sites Remedial Action
Program.
Senator Markey. There it is. Yeah. But the remedial

action program is now going to be just push-back, push-back,
push-back, because you need money. You know, a vision without
funding is a hallucination. So you can’t pretend that without
money, without the personnel, you are going to be able to solve
this problem. So you will have to triage this, then, huh,
General?

General Semonite. So, sir, we do a risk informed decision
process on every one of these sites. We take a look at the
complexity of the site and the danger of the site.

Senator Markey. No, I appreciate that. So you are going
to have to leave behind sites that you have determined to be
dangerous, but not as dangerous as the ones that need more help
immediately.

General Semonite. They will not be able to get attention
as fast as others, yes.

Senator Markey. Right. Exactly. So you just say to those
people, sorry, not enough room on the lifeboat, and you are just
going to have to stay onboard here.

Yes, ma’am.
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Ms. Lukin. If I may, I am so glad you asked this question,
Senator Markey, because Ranking Member Carper asked a question
earlier about funding and issues around sites, and I misheard
him and misspoke. so I want to correct that answer, because in
Alaska we would take cuts to funding for Army Corps of
Engineers, for DOD FUDS programs, for EPA. It would have an
extremely detrimental impact on the cleanup of sites across the
State of Alaska. We absolutely need increased efficiencies and
better coordinating between Federal agencies.

But if we saw an even further decline in cleanup of our
contaminated sites, our Native people are very concerned about
food security, about things leaching into our rivers, into our
lakes where our fish are, into our land where we hunt and fish.
We have concerns over significantly high rates of cancer among
our Native people. Some very strongly believe that this is
linked to the contamination that we are experiencing throughout
our Native communities. And we are also concerned about
drinkable water, because we do have locations near our Alaska
Native villages where you can’t drink the water.

So thank you very much for the opportunity to say that.

Senator Markey. No, thank you. And let me just say this.
I had a mother, Ann Anderson her name was, come into my office
in Congress 1979, and she brought her little boy with her,

Jimmy. And she just sat in my office and told me that Jimmy had
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leukemia and that she had actually gone door-to-door and found
other mothers who also had little girls and boys with leukemia
in one area that was only like a tenth of the size of the whole
city, but it was where all the contaminated wells were, where
all this residue had just been left behind, the arsenic, the
mercury, whatever, in the water and in the land. And she went
door-to-door and she found all these kids, and every mother and
father felt that they had just been unlucky. Oh, my God, and
then they figured out that it wasn’t. So that is really, along
with Love Canal, where the Superfund program began, with Woburn
and with Love Canal.

And it was a tough fight. The city was in denial because
it would ruin property values if they made all this public, you
know, and you have all these issues. And the EPA was not that
enthusiastic about coming in, especially after Reagan took over
and named Ann Gorsuch and Rita Lavelle. But eventually, it took
a long time, we cleaned up the site, and on that site now is a
huge industrial site and a huge transportation center, which we
then named the Jimmy Anderson Transportation Center, which now
creates thousands and thousands of jobs.

So it does work. When you clean it up, you can reuse it
for community purposes. But as long as you are in denial, more
children die across the Country; more families are exposed to

this; more property is never used because the Army walked away
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from that, because the Defense industry walked away from it,
because Monsanto and other companies walked away from it and
left the community to figure it out. They can’t do it alone;
they need the Federal Government to help them. There is just no
capacity in an individual community. And that just transformed
the whole way this community views itself, and it now can see,
in retrospect, that it was wrong to kind of get mad at the
mother and saying, oh my goodness, you can’t talk about this, it
is going to ruin property values.

So I just hope we don’t have to repeat history again,
because there are too many people depending upon us, because we
know that the Army needs the resources. The private sector
companies have walked away, and unless we have a comprehensive
way of looking at it, families are going to suffer.

So I thank you, Mr. Chairman, very much.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you, Senator Markey.

Senator Ernst.

Senator Ernst. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Markey, thank you for bringing up the budget. I
think this is going to be an area that we really do need to work
through. So my line of questioning will be a little bit
different, but it does focus very much on budget and funding

issues.
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General, thank you for appearing for the second time in a
month in front of this Committee. I am greatly appreciative.
And I am sure you know where my questioning will go this
morning. It is really good to have you here. We have had many
discussions over the course of the past several months.

But I wanted to take the time today to just reemphasize the
flood mitigation projects that we have hanging out there. One
of those is in Iowa, in Cedar Rapids. And thank you again for
participating in those discussions with me.

On Monday I met with OMB Director Mulvaney, alongside
Senator Grassley and Congressman Blum, to talk about the Cedar
Rapids flood mitigation project and how important that is for
our State, and I know that you are aware of it. I appreciate
your work on this with me. And it is my understanding, when we
visited with Director Mulvaney, it is my understanding that the
Corps, as of Monday, had not yet submitted their budget to the
OMB for fiscal year 2018. Is that correct?

General Semonite. So, ma’am, we got guidance about three
weeks ago. We have been cranking hard all the way through that,
and then we provided our update to the Assistant Secretary to
the Army on Monday. That budget is being worked right now at
the senior levels of the Army and then will go to OMB on this
Friday. That is the current timeline.

Senator Ernst. Excellent. Thanks, General.
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General Semonite. So the short answer is we have submitted
it to our higher level, but it has not been submitted to the
OMB.

Senator Ernst. To the OMB. Okay, thank you very much for
that.

The Cedar Rapids project was authorized in 2014 and WRDA
2016 directed the Corps to prioritize funding and expedite
completion of the Cedar Rapids project. I also received a
handwritten note from you on January 30th that said you and the
Corps agree in the risk to Iowa citizens and that you will
pursue all possible options to support this critical project.
And I do ask that you carefully consider all of these provisions
when making your determinations going forward in the budget.
Will you do that?

General Semonite. Yes, ma’am. Unfortunately, though, as
you are probably aware and some of the people have already
highlighted this year, there could be potential cuts to the
civil works account based on what was in the President’s initial
proposal. So we will have to see how that plays out and our
ability to be able to then fund all of those critical
priorities.

Senator Ernst. Thank you. And will you commit to work to
solve this particular issue expeditiously and to work with

myself and the OMB to modify the metrics that the Corps utilizes
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so we can stop discounting the rural areas such as Iowa and
other Midwestern areas that have lower property wvalues?

General Semonite. Senator, you and I have talked about
that in the past and you have some very good points on property
values and economic values. I think we want to continue to try
to make sure that the processes that are used to be able to
support the priorities of the Corps budget are the same things
that come back out of the budget on the other end. I can’t
guarantee you, though, that what I put in in the budget is
necessarily what is going to ultimately be approved.

Senator Ernst. Well, we will continue working on this
issue. Again, it is very important not just for the Cedar
Rapids flood mitigation project, but for so many of those other
projects that are authorized but continue to hang out there.
So, General, I thank you for your work.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you very much, Senator Ernst. I
appreciate it.

I do ask unanimous consent that the testimony from the
FUSRAP Coalition be placed in the record for this hearing.
Hearing no objection, that will so be done.

[The referenced information follows:]



Senator Barrasso. I know that Senator Carper is meeting
with some constituents. I know he wanted to make one or two

little final wrap up, so we are waiting for him.

I will just, i1f I could, run down the panel and start with
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you, General. Any summary thoughts that you might have to share

briefly with us?
General Semonite. Senator, I want to just thank you and

the Committee for taking this opportunity to hear some of the

challenges that we all have. Clearly, we are all very committed

to try to clean up these areas. I think, though, that we are
also are very realistic that understanding the size of this
problem is immense, and I think we have to be transparent to
stakeholders that some of these projects are just not going to
be funded as fast as other ones. So this is where we have to
figure out how can we continue to keep the momentum there, but
in a deliberate manner that is putting priorities that are
really life safety and risk to the environment. We have to be
able to make sure that we are putting the best wvalue out to
where it needs to be.

Senator Barrasso. Mr. Breen, any thoughts in summary?

Mr. Breen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think this is an

area where the Committee’s jurisdiction can do both

environmental and economic good at the same time. Thank you for

holding the hearing.
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Senator Barrasso. Mr. Frederick, any final thoughts?

Mr. Frederick. Mr. Chairman, thank you. Yes, I am sure
you have heard as well as I have that residents in the Cheyenne
area affected by missile site contamination are concerned about
it, and they are concerned about when it is going to be cleaned
up. And for too many sites we just haven’t heard when that is
going to happen. I am hopeful that today’s testimony will help
bring some attention to the funding projects that the Corps

faces, and I appreciate the opportunity to talk to you today.

Senator Barrasso. Thanks for being here.
Ms. Lukin.
Ms. Lukin. Quyanaa. Thank you so much for inviting me to

come today. We urge Federal agencies to work together. We look
to leadership and guidance from Congress and we would be happy
to work with you to continue to resolve this important issue for

Alaska Native villages.

Senator Barrasso. Thank you for being with us.
Ms. Smith.
Ms. Smith. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. These sites are

really the moral and legal obligation of the Federal Government,
and history in Washington State has shown that funding is really
the primary thing that drives cleanup faster. So we appreciate

you holding this hearing, and we will do all we can in

Washington State to help support funding.
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Senator Barrasso. Thank you.

Senator Carper, some final thoughts.

Senator Carper. Quyanaa. How’s that? All right. We
learn something every day in this job.

Thanks so much for what you do with your lives. Thanks so
much for being with us here today.

One of the things I focus on not only in this Committee,
but in the other work that the Chairman and I and others do
across the board is I focus on root causes. I focus on root
causes of problems. And a lot of times we spend our resources
and we focus on symptoms of problems, addressing the symptom,
like cleanup. We have these cleanups, we clean them up. We
spend a lot of money; it takes a long time.

And I just want to make sure what are we doing to make sure
that we are not creating, unwittingly, future cleanup sites?
Are we going to have to do this more and spend more money and
more time and disadvantage more people, harm more people?
Anything that we are doing to make sure this kind of thing
doesn’t happen again and again and again?

General?

General Semonite. Senator, from a construction
perspective, when we are out working on military installations
and building new ranges, or trying to figure out what are impact

areas, we have come generations ahead of where we were at 30 or



92

40 years ago. I think the Americans that were here back in 1930
and 1940 were Jjust as committed to this Country; they just
didn’t have the ramifications to understand the second and third
order effects from that. So you have a very good point. We
have to make sure that 30 or 40 years from now, even the fact
that we might not know what is going on, we have to think
through the depth of some of these actions to make sure that our
grandchildren don’t have the same burden that, unfortunately, we
have inherited here.

So I can get into more technical, but some of the things
that we are doing environmentally and to be able to make sure we
are thinking through what about rounds that are left in the
ground. What are the ramifications of that? How do you get a
bullet now that can basically be biodegradable and you don’t
have any ramifications? Some of those kind of things is what we
are doing.

Senator Carper. All right, thanks.

Anybody have a differing view? Anybody want to add to what

the General has said? Do you all agree?

Mr. Breen. I certainly agree, Senator. It is the case
that Superfund is one of the Nation’s safety nets. It is what
is there to stand in when other things have not worked. 1In some

cases that is things that have been put into place decades ago.

I think the Congress took an important step with the amendments
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to the Toxic Substances Control Act, the new TSCA, in making
improvements in the way we deal with chemicals at the outset.
But that doesn’t mean Superfund doesn’t need to be there for
many years to come to deal with problems that are already
entrained.

Senator Carper. Anyone else want to say anything? Okay.

You mentioned TSCA. That is something that Senator Inhofe
and myself, others on this Committee worked literally for years,
David Vitter worked for years, Tom Udall, Frank Lautenberg, and
I am very proud of that. Very proud of the work that was done.
But in the last Congress this Committee played a lead role in
reauthorizing TSCA, I think maybe rewriting it in a way that
will actually work and be effective. It turns out that the very
first chemical safety rules proposed last fall under the new
rule were rules to ban some uses of TCE. I know we talked a
little about TCE today, but let me just follow through on this.
But the rules have not yet been finalized.

Ms. Smith, Mr. Frederick, Ms. Lukin, do any of you disagree
that EPA should act to finalize these rules just as quickly as
possible in order to prevent future exposure to TCE like the
exposures that people near the Wyoming Atlas Missile site are at
risk of? Go ahead and speak.

Ms. Smith We do not, I do not disagree.

Senator Carper. All right.
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Ms. Smith. Thank you, Senator.

Senator Carper. Thank you.

Mr. Frederick. Mr. Chairman, Senator, I am not familiar
with the rule.

Senator Carper. Okay.

Ms. Lukin?

Ms. Lukin. I am also not familiar with the rule.

Senator Carper. All right.

If you were familiar with the rule, what would --

[Laughter.]

Ms. Lukin. I would suggest that I would not disagree with
the rule, but I would have to read it to give you a for sure
answer on that. Thank you, sir.

Senator Carper. Last word. Ms. Lukin, I may have
misunderstood what you said in your earlier testimony, although
I thought you were all brilliant, just exceptional. But I think
I understood you to say that there was a land swap that occurred
involving Native Americans and that in the land swap that
occurred I think between maybe the Federal Government and the
Native Americans, the Native Americans ended up with land that
had been contaminated with toxic materials or whatever, and now
that needs to be cleaned up. And I don’t think you said that

the Native Americans were left holding the bag in the cleanup,



but it sounds like that might be what has happened. Is that
what you said?

Ms. Lukin. In a sense, sir. There is a section within
CERCLA which basically says that the current landowner could be
liable for the cleanup of preexisting contamination. So under
the situation with Alaska Native Corporations, although this
contamination occurred during the Cold War and World War II,
these are events that happened prior to conveyance of the land
to Alaska Native Corporations. Under CERCLA, we are legally
liable to clean up that land, which we feel is extremely unjust
given that we received the land under our aboriginal land claim
settlement with the Federal Government.

The EPA does have a longstanding policy that says that it
won’t pursue legal action against parties under this particular
provision of CERCLA, but it doesn’t provide us any legal rights
under the law and EPA reserved the right to depart from it on a
case-by-case basis. So essentially this has a situation where
Alaska Native Corporations in some cases are unwilling to bring
forward and notify agencies of prior contamination on their
lands simply because they don’t want to be held legally liable
for the cleanup. So we are asking Congress to consider
providing Alaska Native Corporations protection under the law

from this particular section in CERCLA.
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And, sir, you stepped out a moment ago and I misspoke and
misanswered your earlier question about budget funding for
agencies.

Senator Carper. Oh, that’s too bad.

Ms. Lukin. ©No, sir, so I wanted you to know I absolutely
do not support cut funding to Federal agencies for cleanup of
these lands. We have already been delayed over 45 years in the
cleanup of these sites across Alaska. We need more funding, not
less, to make this right. Thank you.

Senator Carper. Would you say that just one more time?

[Laughter. ]

Senator Carper. It’s on the record twice. That’s good.
Thank you.

Just in closing, Mr. Chairman, what I opened up with,
Golden Rule, treat other people the way we want to be treated,
who is my neighbor. And you are neighbors and the folks that
you are trying to help, they are our neighbors as well. And we
have an obligation, I think, a moral obligation to do our part.
And also, while we clean up these messes, toxic messes that have
been created, that we work really hard to make sure we are not
unknowingly creating more of them.

This was a wonderful hearing and appreciate very much all
of you being here and enlightening us today. Thank you.

Senator Barrasso. Well, thank you, Senator Carper.



I just want to thank all the witnesses again for your
testimony, for your thoughtfulness.

If there are no more questions, members may also submit
follow-up written questions for the record. The hearing record
will, therefore, stay open for two weeks.

I want to thank all the witnesses for their time,
testimony, and congratulate our friend who is retiring after 32
years of service to our Nation; not just to the agency, but to
our Nation. Thank you.

With that, the hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 12:02 p.m. the committee was adjourned.]
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Chairman Barrasso, Ranking Member Carper, and distinguished members of the
Committee, | am Lieutenant General Todd Semonite, Commanding General and
Chief of Engineers. | appreciate the opportunity to appear before you today to
address the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) activities in cleaning up the
cold war legacy.

The Corps fully supports the Department of Defense’s (DoD) stated commitment
to protect the environment for several reasons: to ensure that our nation has the
land, water, and airspace we need for military readiness; to protect the health of
the military and civilian personnel and their families who live and work on our
bases; to ensure our operations do not affect the health or environment of
surrounding communities; and to preserve resources for future generations.
Throughout the nation’s history, DoD has used land across the United States to
train Soldiers, Airmen, Sailors and Marines, and to manufacture and test new
weapons to ensure the nation's military readiness. When this land was no longer
needed for DoD activities, the Department cleaned up the properties using the
best practices available at that time and returned it to private or public uses.
Today, DoD is responsible for the environmental restoration (or cleanup) of these
properties in accordance with the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA).

The Corps is involved in three programs addressing those past activities. First,
as part of the Defense Environmental Restoration Program (DERP), DoD through
the Army has delegated execution responsibility to the Corps for the Formerly
Used Defense Sites (FUDS) Program. The second program executed by the
Corps is the Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program (FUSRAP). In
1997, using the FUDS program as a model, Congress transferred the
management and execution of FUSRAP from the Department of Energy (DOE)
directly to the Corps to address the environmental remediation or control of sites
where the Manhattan Engineer District or Atomic Energy Commission activities
were performed during the 1940s, 1950s and 1960s. Third, the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has been partnering with the Corps for
environmental cleanup support at large and complex Superfund sites since 1982.
EPA relies on the Corps for its environmental engineering expertise and we
provide about $225-300 million per year in remedial design and remedial
construction support to the EPA’s Superfund projects across the country.

The theme of this hearing is “Cleaning Up Our Cold War Legacy,” and I’'m sure
we will talk about specific projects tied to that era. It is important to also note that
the cleanup programs the Corps has been entrusted to execute represent an
even broader history of our Nation. In FUDS, we are cleaning up munitions from
the World War | and World War 1l era, to include beaches in Hawaii where our
Marines practiced storming the beach before Iwo Jima. In FUSRAP we are
helping to clean up our atomic energy era that kept our Nation secure. And in
our support to Superfund, we are helping to clean up from an industrial base that
fueled our country’s economy.



Through the FUDS and FUSRAP programs, the Corps is responsible for
approximately 5,400 cleanup sites. In order to make the most impact, we
continually reassess these cleanup programs to ensure we address the highest
risk sites first. At the same time, we are committed to completing cleanup, or
achieving “Response Complete” at all of our sites. Response Complete is when
active cleanup actions are complete and only monitoring remains. In addition to
this work, we also support the Army and Air Force in cleaning up sites on active
installations, and we provide a wide variety of environmental remediation support
and technical advice to a number of other Federal partners at sites across the
country. The Corps and DoD are dedicated to protecting human health and the
environment by investigating and, if required, cleaning up contamination and
munitions hazards that may remain on these properties. The Corps has made
significant progress in the cleanup of FUDS and FUSRAP sites, such that over
65 percent of our FUDS sites and approximately 20 percent of our FUSRAP sites
have now reached Response Complete. | am proud of the work that the Corps
has accomplished in delivering these programs to the nation and we remain
committed to achieving the cleanup program goals established by DoD and the
Army. None of our successes would have been possible without the expertise of
our state, local, and Federal partners and through collaboration with the cleanup
industry and the non-DoD landowners. Our success is also predicated on the
investment in groundbreaking environmental technology that is used throughout
DoD and shared with the EPA, DOE, other agencies and the private sector,
saving taxpayer funding. Our focus remains on continuous improvement in these
cleanup programs.

We execute the work for our DoD and EPA partners within the structure and
framework of the budget, statutory authorities, and policies developed for these
programs. The Corps supports our DoD and interagency partners in ensuring
the health and safety of communities, reducing DoD’s overall $28 billion
environmental cleanup liability as of the end of fiscal year 2015 so that funds can
be invested back into readiness, and returning property back to communities so
that they can put it back to use in growing their local economies.

| will now outline the Corps role in the FUDS and FUSRAP cleanup programs,
report on our investments and progress, and describe the Federal, state, and
local partnerships we have established to ensure we are able to execute our
cleanup programs as efficiently and effectively as possible.

FUDS

As far back as the 1970s, DoD began identifying sites requiring environmental
cleanup. Congress passed CERCLA in 1980, which provided a national
framework for cleanup of contaminated sites. In 1986, the Superfund
Amendments and Reauthorization Act (SARA) established DERP (Title 10 of the
United States Code ~ 10 USC 882700et. seq.). DERP identifies how DoD will



fund and implement cleanup using the CERCLA cleanup framework. Under the
DERP statute, FUDS are generally defined as properties that were formerly
owned by, leased to, or otherwise possessed by, the United States and under the
jurisdiction of the Secretary of Defense prior to October 1986. Under the FUDS
Program, DoD is responsible for addressing the release of contamination as a
result of previous DoD activities.

Our cleanup sites are broken into three categories: the Installation Restoration
Program (IRP) which addresses the cleanup of hazardous substances; the
Military Munitions Response Program (MMRP) which addresses unexploded
ordnance (UXO); and the Building Demolition and Debris Removal (BD/DR)
program that removes unsafe buildings and structures.

The scope and magnitude of the FUDS Program are significant. A total of
10,103 former DoD properties have been evaluated for the FUDS program since
the establishment of DERP. The Corps has identified 5,357 cleanup sites at
2,716 different properties where cleanup actions are required. The FUDS
program has been funded by Congress through DERP with approximately $7.1
billion through FY2016. The remaining cost to complete for the FUDS program is
currently projected as $11.8 billion. As of September 30, 2016, the Corps has
achieved Response Complete at 2,512 of the 3,104 IRP and BD/DR sites (81
percent) and at 1,001 of the 2,253 MMRP sites (44 percent). During FY2016, the
Corps achieved Response Complete at 103 cleanup sites. Of the total 5,357
cleanup sites, 3,513 are now either closed out or in monitoring status.

Cleanup at many of the remaining sites is more complex and requires additional
time or a remedy based on more advanced technology. To that end, the Corps is
supporting DoD investments in technology and partnering with fellow Federal
agencies, state regulators, and industry stakeholders to cut costs and increase
efficiency in our cleanup efforts. One example of this is the recent successes in
fielding the Advanced Geophysical Classification technology at multiple MMRP
sites to allow us to better discriminate between hazardous unexploded ordnance
and harmless scrap metal without the need to dig up every object.

Although significant progress has been made, the large volume of work
remaining means that the Corps cannot work at every site simultaneously. The
Corps determines the priority of all remaining cleanup sites, nation-wide, on the
basis of risk to human health and the environment in partnership with states and
the regulators in accordance with the principles established by the Federal
Facilities Environmental Restoration Dialogue Committee (FFERDC). Then,
working together with our environmental regulatory partners and, in some
circumstances the EPA, the Corps refines the sequence in which the cleanups
will be conducted. By cleaning up the “worst first,” we reduce the risks to human
health and expedite the return of properties to productive use. Due to the large
number of MMRP sites remaining, DoD, in partnership with state environmental
regulators, established an interim risk management goal for FUDS which



requires well-planned, coordinated actions to increase awareness of the potential
risk posed by these sites until cleanup activities can begin.

The Corps has implemented a program to notify landowners and other users of
the property of potential hazards. Public notification and education about
potential hazards are being carried out in a systematic and recurring process.
Members of Congress are also notified when these notices are sent to their
constituents. For example, if there is unexploded ordnance concerns at a site,
the public is educated about how to report anything suspicious. The education
program is known as the 3R’s of explosives safety -- “Recognize, Retreat and
Report.” The public is also provided access to information about FUDS in their
area through local information depositories and websites about the FUDS
Program and for specific projects where work is currently underway. For FUDS
program information see: www.FUDS.mil.

Another challenge we face for FUDS is in Alaska, where we currently have 176
remaining cleanup sites (140 IRP and 36 MMRP) with an estimated cost to
complete of over $1.7 billion. Alaskan FUDS work is logistically challenging.
Many Alaska FUDS are isolated from the limited Alaskan road system.
Equipment and workers are often flown and/or barged to the project locations
with limited infrastructure available to support cleanup operations. Additionally,
due to the arctic climate, the field season is limited. To maximize the field
season, investigation work is often done concurrently with cleanup. Large sites
under investigation are broken into smaller projects with achievable remediation
solutions. Using these approaches the Corps has achieved Response Complete
at 219 of the 395 cleanup sites (55 percent), representing an investment of $948
million since 1984.

The Corps is committed to working with state regulators, the EPA, and other
Federal Agencies on cleanup issues at FUDS. The Corps recognizes the benefit
of these partnerships and participates in all three DoD established working
groups to communicate and collaborate with Federal and State regulators on
important issues at the national level. One of these working groups, called the
FUDS Forum, is focused on DoD’s partnership with State regulators on topics
specifically related to the FUDS Program. Since FUDS properties are no longer
under DoD control, many unique challenges can arise during the cleanup
process. The FUDS Forum provides an opportunity to discuss and develop
solutions in concert with our regulatory partners.

A recent example of these partnerships is at the FE Warren Atlas Missile Site 3
in Wyoming. In FY 2016, the Corps leadership was able to engage directly with
the Director of the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality, to negotiate
the approval of the Decision Document for the site so that $4 million could be
expended for the treatment of groundwater contamination near the source area.
This agreement will also make possible the investment of an additional $8 million
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in FY2017 for new work at the leading edge of the plume so that contamination
will not continue to spread.

The Corps also values local community input and recognizes the importance of
public involvement at FUDS that require environmental restoration. Restoration
Advisory Boards (RABs) can be formed to provide the local communities with
forums to discuss cleanup issues or concerns with the Corps and the State and
Federal regulators. RABs include members from the local communities and
reflect the diverse interests in the communities that are impacted by the cleanup
activities.

To date, the Corps has made significant progress toward creating an inventory,
assessing DoD responsibility, and addressing FUDS liabilities. While the mission
was massive to begin with, through tremendous effort we are now within sight of
having successfully addressed nearly 90% of the IRP and BD/DR sites and
almost 50% of MMRP sites in the FUDS inventory in the next few years. For the
work that remains, DoD and the Corps are committed to completing these efforts
and ensuring that protective, permanent solutions address any remaining
environmental restoration requirements.

FUSRAP

The Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program (FUSRAP) was initiated in
1974 to identify, investigate, and if necessary, clean up or control sites
throughout the United States contaminated as a result of the Nation’s early
atomic weapons and energy programs. These activities were conducted by the
Manhattan Engineer District (MED) or Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) who
are both predecessors of the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE). Congress
transferred responsibility for administration and execution of cleanup at eligible
FUSRAP sites to the Corps in the Energy and Water Development
Appropriations Act of 1998 [Public Law 105-62, 111 Stat.1320, 1326].

We continue to address these responsibilities, which include sites referred after
1998 under a Corps of Engineers/DOE Memorandum of Understanding, and
sites added to the program by Congress. When executing FUSRAP, the Corps
follows the investigation and response framework of the CERCLA, as amended,
and the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan
(NCP).

The FUSRAP Program prioritizes objectives and phases of work that best
support the overall program goal of eliminating demonstrable threats to public
health, safety, or the environment. Funding priority is generally given towards
previously awarded contracts to continue design, removal, or remediation,
especially for projects in the construction phase. There are 24 sites currently in
the FUSRAP program and two other sites that have been determined as
eligible for consideration and are awaiting a final determination as to whether



they will be included in FUSRAP. The Corps has completed remediation of nine
sites since the program was transferred.

The Corps is committed to informing and involving the public as it progresses
through the decision-making process for each site. Response actions are
coordinated with the EPA and/or state environmental regulatory agencies on all
sites. FUSRAP has two programmatic Memorandums of Understanding (MOU):
one with DOE and one with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC).

e The DOE MOU delineates the administration and execution
responsibilities of each of the parties for FUSRAP. DOE determines if
a site is eligible for FUSRAP and accepts long-term stewardship of the
properties once the remedy is in place.

e The NRC MOU strives to minimize dual regulation and duplication of
regulatory requirements at FUSRAP sites with NRC-licensed facilities
and outlines coordination procedures and methods to suspend the
NRC license while the Corps is cleaning up licensed material. The
program currently has one site with an NRC license.

The continued presence of radioactive materials presents the potential for
chronic health exposure to sensitive populations (very young, seniors and
impaired heath). Every year remedy completion is delayed, funding still must be
spent on maintaining the site controls regardless of whether any remedial
activities are taking place. For the work that remains, the Corps is committed to
completing these efforts and returning these properties to DOE with protective
and effective solutions that address any remaining environmental restoration
requirements.

THE CLEANUP PROCESS

DoD’s environmental cleanup program follows the long-established and well-
documented process under CERCLA and the National Contingency Plan, as
shown in the figure below. While some phases may overlap or occur
concurrently, environmental activities at FUDS and FUSRAP sites are generally
conducted in the order shown. In addition, FUDS actions under the DERP
comply with DoD Directives, Instructions, policies, and guidance.



Figure. Environmental Restoration Process Phases and Milestones
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The Corps has a unique capability to deliver these cleanup programs due to the
extensive knowledge and experience of the environmental engineers and
scientists residing within our Divisions, Districts, Centers, and Labs. With over
4,000 environmental professionals, the Corps has the technical capabilities to
complete the most challenging and complex environmental programs for our
nation. The Corps uses competitively procured contracts with industry to assist
in the performance of studies and investigations and the implementation of
response actions to address the environmental response requirements at
cleanup sites. This process provides for collaboration with the private sector
while maintaining an arm’s length, professional relationship with industry. This
ensures that the best interests of the taxpayers are protected and Federal
appropriations are expended effectively while making use of the expertise and
resources in the private sector.

In closing, | sincerely thank the Committee for this opportunity to discuss the
Corps’ environmental cleanup activities for our cold war legacy. We are
committed to addressing contamination resulting from past activities as we




rigorously comply with current laws and regulations to minimize new
contamination.
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Chairman Barrasso, Ranking Member Carper, and members of the Committee, thank you
for inviting me to appear today to discuss the EPA’s role in the cleanup and restoration of
contaminated federal facilities under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,

Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA or “Superfund”).

CLEAN UP PROGRESS UNDER CERCLA

At EPA, focusing on the Superfund program is one of Administrator Pruitt’s top
priorities. Extensive data suggests that the Superfund program is a premier example of
how EPA can accomplish one of its core missions of protecting human health and the

environment, while simultaneously promoting jobs and growth.

A 2012 National Bureau of Economic Research study entitled “Superfund Cleanups and
Infant Health” shows that Superfund cleanups reduce congenital abnormalities in infants
by as much as 25 percent for those living within 5,000 meters of a site.! Birth defects

avoided, means improved human health for an entire future generation. Additionally,

! Currie, Janet, Michael Greenstone, and Enrico Moretti. 2012. “Superfund Cleanups and Infant Health”.
American Economic Review, 101(3): 435-441
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data shows that at 454 reuse sites, approximately 3,900 businesses are generating $29
billion in sales and these businesses employed more than 108,000 people who earned a
combined income of $7.8 billion.? Work under the Superfund Program improves
property values as well. A 2013 study by researchers at Duke University and the
University of Pittsburgh analyzed census tract data and found that deletion of sites from
the NPL after cleanup raises the value of owner-occupied housing within three miles of
the site by 18.6 - 24.5 percent.® Increased property values mean a healthier tax base for
local communities that support so many other benefits, such as public schools, libraries,
police and fire departments and other local services. This data clearly demonstrates how
the Superfund program can provide tremendous improvements to both human health and

the economy.

Since enactment of CERCLA, the EPA, other federal agencies, and states and tribes have
made significant progress. Under the Superfund program, the EPA and its state, tribal,
and federal partners have assessed more than 50,000 sites; the removal program has
conducted more than 15,000 removals at over 9,000 sites; and 1,782 sites have either
been proposed to, listed on, or deleted from the Superfund National Priorities List (NPL).
Of the 1,729 final or deleted sites, more than 90 percent have undergone construction

activity, have been completed, or have been deleted from the NPL.

2 For more information on Redevelopment Economics and in depth case studies please use the link below.
https://www.epa.gov/superfund-redevelopment-initiative/redevelopment-economics

3 Gamper-Rabindran, Shanti and Christopher Timmons. 2013. “Does cleanup of hazardous waste sites raise housing
values? Evidence of spatially localized benefits,” Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 65(3): 345-
360



FEDERAL FACILITY CLEANUP AND REUSE

CERCLA Section 120 provides a framework for identifying contaminated federal facility
sites, assessing actual or potential environmental risks from these sites, and assuring
cleanup and other actions to protect human health and the environment. Under
CERCLA, the EPA and its federal and state partners address releases of hazardous
substances that pose or may pose current or future threats to human health and the
environment. The federal facility restoration and reuse program is an important
component of the broader Superfund program. Under CERCLA Section 120, federal
facilities are required to comply with CERCLA in the same manner and to the same

extent, both substantively and procedurally, as private entities.

Section 120 includes some unique provisions and timetables that apply to federal
facilities only, including requiring the EPA to establish a federal agency hazardous waste
docket, requiring completion of a preliminary assessment by a federal facility after
docket listing, requiring a federal agency to commence a remedial investigation and
feasibility study of a facility it owns or operates within six months of that facility being
placed on the NPL, and requiring the EPA and the federal facility enter into an
Interagency Agreement (IAG) (commonly referred to as a “Federal Facility Agreement”
or FFA) at NPL sites. Also, specific provisions govern the transfer of federal property to
private entities. Finally, CERCLA restricts the use of Superfund Trust Fund monies to
carry out remedial actions at federal facilities. Instead, federal departments and agencies

pay for the assessment and cleanup of facilities under their jurisdiction, custody or



control, while the EPA uses its Superfund resources to provide technical assistance and

oversight.

Under Executive Order 12580, federal agencies are designated as the “lead agency” for
carrying out many CERCLA statutory requirements at their facilities. CERCLA Section
120(e)(4) specifies that an IAG must include the review of alternative remedial actions,
with the selection of remedial action by the head of the federal agency and the EPA. The
Administrator of the EPA makes the final selection of the remedial action if the federal
agency/department and the EPA are unable to reach agreement on the selection of a
remedial action. Thus, in some respects, other federal agencies such as the Department
of Defense (DoD) and the Department of Energy (DOE) are the EPA’s partners, as well

as regulated entities, under the CERCLA framework.

At federal facilities on the NPL, unlike non-federal Superfund sites, the federal agencies
responsible for cleanup generally write Records of Decision (RODs), with EPA review
and concurrence. In addition, federal agencies assume the lead responsibility for carrying
out CERCLA section 121(c) five-year reviews to determine if the remedy remains

protective at federal facility NPL sites, again with EPA review and concurrence.

At most federal facility NPL sites, field staff relationships are strong. Currently there are
157 federal facility sites on the NPL. Another 17 federal sites were on the NPL, but have
been deleted. Of the 174 total NPL sites, 140 are DOD sites. The FFAs negotiated with
DoD, DOE and other agencies are enforceable agreements that govern the cleanup at

federal Superfund sites, and are comparable to EPA’s cleanup agreements with private



parties at non-federal sites. A majority of the FFAs include a state as a signatory, and
provide a formal mechanism for state involvement in the oversight of response actions.
Tribal governments may also be involved in the cleanup process and participate in the

decision making with the other federal agency as the lead for tribal consultation.

Often, the EPA and the other federal agencies implementing the remedies face unique
challenges due to the types of contamination present, the size of the facility, the extent of
contamination, ongoing facility operation needs, and complexities related to the

redevelopment plans for the facilities.

FEDERAL AGENCY HAZARDOUS WASTE COMPLIANCE DOCKET

Since 1988, EPA has maintained the Federal Agency Hazardous Waste Compliance
Docket (Docket) required under Section 120(c) of CERCLA. The Docket contains
information on federal facilities that manage hazardous waste or from which hazardous
substances, pollutants or contaminants have been or may be released. The Docket is
developed from information submitted by the federal facility under the following
authorities: Resource Conservation and Recovery Act Sections 3005, 3010, 3016 and
CERCLA Section 103. The Docket serves three major purposes: (1) to identify all
federal facilities that must be evaluated to determine whether they pose a threat to human
health and the environment sufficient to warrant inclusion on the NPL; (2) to compile and
maintain the information submitted to EPA on these facilities; and (3) to provide a
mechanism to make the information available to the public. EPA updates the Docket
every six months with the last update occurring in October, 2016. The total number

currently on the Docket is 2,318.



PROGRESS THROUGH EFFECTIVE PARTNERSHIPS

The CERCLA Section 120 framework has worked effectively for helping to ensure
appropriate oversight of clean ups for more than 25 years, with a proven track record for
achieving consistent, protective cleanups at the nation’s federal facility sites. CERCLA
has provided a consistent foundation for the EPA and federal agencies to cooperate in the
field. Moreover, because states are most often parties to the FFA’s and state Applicable
or Relevant and Appropriate Requirements apply to site cleanups, states and the EPA
work together to help ensure NPL cleanups meet statutory requirements and are

protective of human health and the environment.

In the last five years, construction completion has been reached at eight federal sites,
including seven DoD sites and one U.S. Coast Guard site. Construction completion of a
site is an important milestone as it means the construction of all cleanup actions is
finished at a site, including actions to address all immediate threats and to bring all long-
term threats under control. Since the Superfund program’s inception, construction
completion has been reached at 78 of the 174 federal sites on the NPL, including 62 (out

of 140) DoD sites, and 10 (out of 21) DOE sites.

The EPA is engaging with other federal departments and agencies on a range of activities
to maintain and accelerate cleanup progress at federal facilities. For example, we are
working collaboratively with DoD on tools for advanced geophysical classification to
allow for more accurate and efficient cleanup of munitions sites, improving site level data
quality, and resolving technical issues associated with emerging contaminants. We are

continuing to modernize the Federal Agency Hazardous Waste Compliance Docket and
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have implemented ways to make the federal facility program data more accessible to

communities and other stakeholders as required by CERCLA.

Contaminated sites and cleanup activities have a significant impact on the surrounding
communities. EPA’s federal facility program has been working collaboratively with
DoD, DOE, and Department of the Interior through a federal workgroup to improve the
technical quality and timeliness, and reduce the cost of five-year review reports; and to
ensure that the community is aware of whether the remedy in place at the NPL site
continues to be protective of human health and the environment. These long-standing
partnerships are successful at exchanging information and training on remediation

technologies, monitoring and chemical methods and data quality practices.

CONCLUSION

| appreciate the Committee’s interest in the cleanup of NPL federal facility sites. As
previously stated, protecting human health and the environment through continuing, and
perhaps expanding upon, ongoing cleanup and reuse activities remains among
Administrator Pruitt’s top priorities. Such efforts will always be done so in a manner that
continues to protect human health and the environment and in partnership with other

federal departments and agencies, states, tribes and local communities.
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Good morning Chairman Barrasso, Ranking Member Carper, and honorable
Members of the Committee. My name is Kevin Frederick. | am the Water Quality
Administrator for the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality, and | thank
the Committee for inviting the State of Wyoming to share its perspective on
environmental cleanup of Cold War legacy sites.

Wyoming is home to 38 formerly used defense sites. My comments today
focus on those that have had the most significant environmental impact, which are
the seven former Atlas Missile sites in southeast Wyoming. The Atlas Missile was
the first fully operational strategic missile developed by the U.S. and was designed
for deployment of nuclear warheads during the Cold War era of the late 1950°s and
carly 60°s. Missile sites were used for the housing, readiness, and potential launch

of nuclear missiles. The Atlas Missile sites played a crucial role in protecting the



safety and security of the American people and ensured the military readiness of
the United States armed forces. However, some of the sites have, and continue to
cause serious environmental problems.

The Atlas used liquid rocket propellant for fuel and liquid oxygen as the
oxidizer. Trichloroethylene, or TCE, a known carcinogen, was used to clean the
rocket fuel tanks, engines, and lines to prevent accidental explosions. Spent TCE
drained into a series of unlined pits and channels. The amount of TCE that may
have been released ranges from hundreds to thousands of gallons at each site. It’s
been said that as little as one teaspoon of TCE can contaminate one million gallons
of water.

Groundwater within the Ogallala aquifer underlying some missile sites has
been impacted with TCE at levels far above the safe drinking water limit of 5 parts
per billion. The Ogallala is one of the most important of the nation’s aquifers,
supplying the agricultural and drinking water needs of the bread-basket states in
the Midwest. All of the missile sites are located within 75 miles of Cheyenne, the
most densely populated area in the state and the home of F.E. Warren Air Force
Base, one of the country’s nuclear missile command and control launch centers.
Residents rely heavily upon high quality groundwater, much from the Ogallala, for

municipal drinking water supplies.



Wyoming’s missile sites have some of the largest and deepest TCE plumes
in the U.S. The largest, at Missile Site 4 eighteen miles west of Cheyenne, is
roughly 12 miles long and 3 miles wide in places. At Missile Site 4,
concentrations of TCE in groundwater are greater than 240,000 ppb, or 48,000
times the safe drinking water limit. Some of the City of Cheyenne’s municipal
drinking water supply wells, as well as two water wells owned by private
landowners, have already been impacted by TCE from Atlas 4.

Plumes at three other sites are roughly 1 mile long by one-quarter to one-half
mile wide, and the remaining two are a few hundred feet in length and width. All
sites have TCE in groundwater ranging from hundreds to thousands of parts per
billion. TCE plumes at three of the sites have migrated beneath adjacent private
properties, and many of the people who live near the missile sites depend on
private wells that are not equipped to remove TCE.

TCE is a dense non-aqueous phase liquid, which means that it tends to
adhere to materials it comes into contact with—that is, it is sticky—and it sinks to
the bottom of aquifers. Managing TCE contamination at missile sites in Wyoming
is further complicated by highly variable and unpredictable geology, short
fieldwork seasons, large volumes of TCE, and long time frames of more than 50

years since the releases occurred. Adding to that complexity, TCE typically cannot



be excavated and removed, and it is difficult to remediate. In short, these are not
your garden variety contaminated sites.

Taken together, these factors make TCE very difficult, expensive, and time-
consuming to clean up once it reaches groundwater, and costs quickly reach into
the millions of dollars. Each of the seven Atlas Missile sites in Wyoming will
require significant human and capital resources to complete cleanup, and each
presents unique challenges and difficulties. Overall costs expended to date at the
seven missile sites exceed $45,000,000, and much work remains to be done. As of
2015, the Department of Defense estimated that the cost to complete the
investigation and remediation of formerly used defense sites in Wyoming at
$285,134,000.

The Department of Defense is ultimately responsible for contamination at
Atlas Missile sites. As the state’s lead environmental oversight agency, the
Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality coordinates with the Corps of
Engineers to investigate, characterize, and remediate contaminated soils and
groundwater at these sites. Of the seven sites in Wyoming, two are in the
remediation phase to treat contaminant plumes; one is in pilot stage remedial
testing; one is in the site characterization phase; two are awaiting DoD funding for
site characterization; and one, Missile Site 7, is under evaluation for closure.

Cleaning up the contamination from these Cold War era sites will require ongoing



cooperation between the Army Corps of Engineers and the Wyoming Department
of Environmental Quality. While at times frustrating, the Wyoming Department of
Environmental Quality is fortunate to have a relatively good and constructive
working relationship with the Corps of Engineers. Collaboration between our
respective agencies, together with public involvement, allows cleanup of these
sites in a way that works, and that is cost effective. Upfront planning and
communication, including a clear understanding of the roles and responsibilities of
the agencies involved, and mutual understanding of the federal and state
regulations at work are essential to the success of this endeavor. Adhering to these
basic tenets makes the process work best for all parties involved.

Further details on each of the Wyoming missile sites, as well as observations
and recommendations that may help improve the overall cleanup process at these
sites, are provided in the Appendix to my written testimony.

Mr. Chairman, Mr. Ranking Member, and Members of the Committee, |
thank you for your time and remain available to answer any questions you may

have.
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By some estimates, there are over 300,000 sites in the United States where soil or water
are contaminated. The United States Environmental Protection Agency estimates that
expenditures for soil and groundwater cleanup at these sites through 2033 may exceed
$200,000,000,000 (not adjusted for inflation).> At the formerly used Atlas Missile sites in
Wyoming, groundwater impacts are particularly severe and will require significant effort to
investigate and remediate. As of 2015, the Department of Defense estimated that the cost to
complete the investigation and remediation of formerly used defense sites (FUDS) in Wyoming
through 2060 at $285,134,000.

Several factors are expected to make cleanup of FUDS in Wyoming expensive. At the
seven former Atlas Missile sites, trichloroethylene (TCE) has contaminated groundwater and
threatened drinking water supplies in an already arid area where water is scarce. \WWyoming sites
are considered complex. Attributes that add to the complexity of cleaning up the former Atlas
Missile sites include extensive groundwater contamination at depth, large releases and/or source
zones, multiple and/or recalcitrant contaminants, widespread contaminant distribution in the
subsurface, long timeframes since releases occurred, and heterogeneous geology. Complexity is
also directly tied to the contaminants present. Some of the most challenging contaminants to
remediate are dense non-aqueous phase liquids like TCE. Additionally, Wyoming has some of
the largest and deepest TCE plumes in the US, rivaled only by TCE-contaminated Superfund
sites.

The following table presents a status update on each missile site in Wyoming, including
the corrective action period funded and Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality
(WDEQ) oversight costs for each of those timeframes.

1 Alternatives for Managing the Nation's Complex Contaminated Groundwater Sites, by Committee on Future
Options for Management in the Nation's Subsurface Remediation Effort; Water Science and Technology Board;
Division on Earth and Life Studies; National Research Council (2013).
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Former F.E. Warren Atlas Missile Sites 1 through 7
Corrective Action (CA) Funding

Missile Site 1
Total Total CA
CA Period Installation Approved Pending Year
2010-2012 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 1 (BO8WY0464) $2,951.51 $0.00 | 2009
2012-2014 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 1 (BO8WY0464) $1,177.81 $0.00 | 2011

Missile Site 1 is located 20 miles north of Cheyenne, immediately west of Interstate 25. This site has a
TCE plume that measures 5,600 feet in length and 3,500 feet in width. Groundwater is flowing east
and slightly northeast. Depth to water varies but is approximately 200 feet below ground surface (BGS).
This site is currently unfunded by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) under the Defense and
State Memorandum of Agreement (DSMOA) and not under active investigation or remediation.
Groundwater monitoring was last conducted at this site in 2012. USACE investigation costs to date are
$386,600. WDEQ oversight funds have been $4,129.32.

Missile Site 2
Total Total CA
CA Period Installation Approved Pending Year
2010-2012 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 2 (BO8WY0465) $6,723.31 $0.00 | 2009
2012-2014 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 2 (BO8WY0465) $10,703.22 $0.00 | 2011
2014-2016 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 2 (BO8BWY0465) $1,495.44 $0.00 | 2013
2016-2018 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 2 (BO8BWY0465) $897.41 $0.00 | 2015

Missile Site 2 is located 16 miles northeast of Cheyenne, on the north side of State Highway 85. This
site has a TCE plume that measures 4,500 feet in length and 3,000 feet in width. Concentrations range
from 13 ppb to 14,000 ppb within the plume. Pilot studies are currently being conducted to determine
the most appropriate way to perform in-situ bioremediation. USACE investigation costs to date are
$4,102,200. WDEQ oversight between 2010 and 2016 is $18,921.97.




Missile Site 3

Total Total CA
CA Period Installation Approved Pending Year
2010-2012 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 3 (BO8WY0466) $17,371.78 $0.00 | 2009
2012-2014 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 3 (BO8WY0466) $17,329.94 $0.00 | 2011
2014-2016 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 3 (BO8WY0466) $53,467.57 $0.00 | 2013
2016-2018 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 3 (BO8WY0466) $3,224.78 $2,144.70 | 2015

Missile Site 3 is located 20 miles southeast of Cheyenne near Carpenter, WY. This site has a TCE
plume that measures 6,400 feet in length and 2,400 feet in width. Concentrations range from 920 ppb
to 21,000 ppb within the plume. The horizontal and vertical extent of contamination has not been
defined. The vertical extent could be greater than or equal to 174 vertical feet of saturated thickness of
the aquifer. The deepest well is 290 feet deep. The 2016 signed Decision Document identifies in-situ
bioremediation as the groundwater remedy for the site. However, the expected timeframe to remedy
complete is expected to occur in approximately 200 years. Additional work is expected to further
evaluate the source zone (missile launchers) and define the leading edge of the plume. USACE
investigation costs to date are $15,225,400. WDEQ oversight between 2010 and 2016 is $91,394.07.

Missile Site 4
Total Total CA
CA Period Installation Approved Pending Year
2010-2012 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 4 (BO8BWY0467) $81,019.49 $0.00 | 2009
2012-2014 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 4 (BOBWY0467) | $121,718.10 $0.00 | 2011
2014-2016 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 4 (BO8BWY0467) $45,311.50 $0.00 | 2013
2016-2018 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 4 (BO8BWY0467) $2,391.50 | $1,220.55| 2015

Missile Site 4 is located 16 miles west of Cheyenne, immediately south of Interstate 80. This site has a
TCE plume that measures approximately 12 miles in length and 3 miles in width. TCE contamination
in groundwater exceeds 240,000 parts per billion (ppb), well above the safe drinking water limit of 5
ppb. Atlas 4 also has the largest TCE contaminant plume (roughly 12 miles long by 3 miles wide) in
Wyoming, and likely one of, if not the largest TCE plume in all of the country. The City of Cheyenne
municipal water supply, as well as a two (2) private landowners’ water wells, are currently or have been
impacted by TCE from Atlas 4. The USACE has installed a water treatment system for the impacted
municipal water wells and granulated activated carbon systems for private landowners; these systems
are currently in operation and tested on an annual basis for effectiveness.

Vertical and horizontal depths are under investigation, but TCE is believed to have migrated down to
the White River Formation, which is a tight claystone with lenticular arkosic conglomerate. USACE
Investigation costs to date are $8,067,400. The City of Cheyenne municipal water supply treatment
system for the TCE impacts cost $4.56 million with an annual operation and maintenance cost of
$205,000. WDEQ oversight between 2010 and 2016 is $248,049.09.




Missile Site 5

Total Total CA
CA Period Installation Approved Pending Year
2010-2012 | FE WAR AFB AF FAC SITE 5 (BOBWY0468) $3,332.97 $0.00 | 2009
2012-2014 | FE WAR AFB AF FAC SITE 5 (BO8WY0468) $4,319.40 $0.00 | 2011
2014-2016 | FE WAR AFB AF FAC SITE 5 (BO8WY0468) $5,619.41 $0.00 | 2013
2016-2018 | FE WAR AFB AF FAC SITE 5 (BO8WY0468) $751.23 $244.45 | 2015

Missile Site 5 is located east of the town of Chugwater, approximately 45 miles North of Cheyenne.
This site has a TCE plume that measures 1,000 feet wide by 3,600 feet in length. The highest TCE
concentration detected at this site is 370 ppb. Groundwater flow is northeast. The depth to water ranges
from 93 to 130 feet BGS. The greatest depth at which TCE was detected above the MCL was at 138
feet BGS. However, because the adjacent deep well was 240 feet total depth, TCE could be above
cleanup levels at greater depth. The separation between the 138 foot deep well and the 240 foot deep
well is 102 feet. In-situ bioremediation is identified in the Decision Document as the remedy. Injection
wells were constructed and bioremediation substrate injected in 2016. Effectiveness is still being
evaluated. USACE investigation costs to date are $10,410,100. WDEQ oversight between 2010 and
2016 is $13,271.78.

Missile Site 6
Total Total CA
CA Period Installation Approved Pending Year
2010-2012 | FE WAR AFB AF FAC S-6 (BO8WY0656) $976.61 $0.00 | 2009
2012-2014 | FE WAR AFB AF FAC S-6 (BOBWY0656) $1,014.55 $0.00 | 2011
2014-2016 | FE WAR AFB AF FAC S-6 (BOBWY0656) $1,239.50 $0.00 | 2013

Missile Site 6 is located northeast of Cheyenne near Meriden, WY and west of State Highway 85. This
site has a TCE plume that measures 500 feet by 800 feet. The maximum concentration of TCE in
groundwater detected at the site to date is 101 ppb. PBC’s have also been detected up to 1000 ug/kg in
soils. Groundwater flow is east-southeast. The depth to water is approximately 100 feet. The greatest
depth at which TCE was detected was 124 feet BGS. Additional monitoring well installation and
groundwater field sampling was conducted in May 2015. DSMoA funding was not included in the
original 2016-2018 Cooperative Plan. However, an addendum is under negotiation to include this site.
USACE investigation costs to date are $1,228,400. WDEQ oversight between 2010 and 2016 is
$3,230.66.




Missile Site 7

Total Total CA
CA Period Installation Approved Pending Year
2010-2012 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 7 (BO8BWY0657) $1,104.98 $0.00 | 2009
2012-2014 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 7 (BO8BWY0657) $1,831.64 $0.00 | 2011
2014-2016 | FE WARREN AFB FAC SITE 7 (BO8BWY0657) $1,837.74 $0.00 | 2013

Missile Site 7 is located in Pine Bluffs, close to and north of Interstate 80. Groundwater flows generally
southeast and the depth to water varies but is generally 80 feet below ground surface. TCE has been
detected at a maximum concentration of 134 ppb. At its maximum extent the TCE apparently extended
horizontally less than or equal to 150 feet by 300 feet. The fracture flow in the area makes a
determination of the horizontal extent of contamination somewhat ambiguous. The USACE has
proposed No Further Action for Atlas 7, however, the WDEQ has not concurred and believes further
investigation is necessary in order to support that determination. USACE investigation costs to date are
$504,600. WDEQ oversight between 2010 and 2016 is $4,774.36.

Under the Defense State Memorandum of Agreement, WDEQ receives funding bi-
annually to conduct state regulatory oversight activities at various federal facilities. WDEQ
oversight includes review of corrective action investigation work plans, remedy evaluations, and
monitoring results. WDEQ’s oversight funding for the six-year period between 2010 and 2016
was $766,241.93. The majority of oversight activities during this timeframe focused on Missile
Sites 3 and 4, where groundwater contamination presents the most serious and immediate threats.
WDEQ has received funding from the FUDS Installation Restoration Program as follows:

Component Obligated Total Spent on
CA Period | Approved Amount Amount Total Spent Missile Sites
2010-2012 $302,007.00 $125,396.00 $125.396.00 $113,480.65
2012-2014 $179,100.00 $171,494.63 $171,494.63 $155,157.66
2014-2016 $208,622.00 $117,755.25 $117,755.25* $108,971.16
2016-2018 $163,132.00 $80,000.00 $15,430.87 $7,264.92

*Staff retirement and hiring resulted in less staff to work on projects under the federal program.

According to the most recent annual report to Congress, the United States Department of
Defense has almost 26,000 active sites under its Installation Restoration Program where soil and
groundwater remediation is either planned or underway. Of these, approximately 13,000 sites are

the responsibility of the Army. The estimated cost to complete cleanup at all Department of
Defense sites is approximately $12.8 billion.? (Note that these estimates do not include sites
containing unexploded ordnance.).

We offer the following observations and recommendations in hopes of improving the
overall success and efficient cleanup of these formerly used defense sites not only within
Wyoming, but within other states as well:

2 Defense Environmental Programs Annual Report to Congress - Fiscal Year 2015.
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Cooperation between state and federal agencies plays a very important part in
determining how quickly and effectively sites are remediated. Strong and ongoing
collaboration, as well as early incorporation of state requirements and expectations significantly
helps to minimize delays in implementing successful remedies. WDEQ has found that effective
components of any missile site cleanup strategy emphasize real results for the money spent,
incorporate state requirements early on, adequately fund state involvement, clearly define federal
and state roles in the cleanup, and include opportunities for public involvement.

Consistent application of both state and federal regulations and guidance regarding
investigation and cleanup is highly important.

Adequate funding can significantly improve the remediation process in terms of
both time and overall project cost. Lack of federal funding may lead to technically inadequate
and incomplete site characterizations; source areas may not be adequately investigated and
defined, and ineffective, costly remedies may be determined from incomplete information. For
example, in 2016 an investigation of the Burn Pits at Missile Site 4 identified significant
groundwater contamination in this area. Limited investigations at this site had been ongoing for
the previous 10 years. With adequate funding and complete investigation, the source of TCE
contamination in groundwater beneath Missile Site 4 would likely have been discovered much
earlier, and plans and funding for remediation implemented much sooner than is now the case.

States play an important role in the process. State agencies are often the lead
regulatory agency, often have a great deal of institutional knowledge and familiarity with the
sites, and understand state requirements that apply to the cleanup process. Their knowledge and
experience are valuable assets in determining investigation and remediation approaches that can
save both time and money and lead to successful cleanups.

State and federal agencies should collaborate closely in the development and
awarding of Performance-based Contracts (PBCs) for investigation and remediation work.
The Association of State and Territorial Solid Waste Management Officials (ASTSWMO), of
which WDEQ is a member, has recently published a Position Paper (attached) on performance-
based contracting at federal facilities. The paper identifies challenges States continue to face
regarding the use of PBCs, and highlights areas still needing attention. It also provides
recommendations, including a checklist to assist all parties involved in the development and
implementation of PBCs in order to improve the process at federal facility cleanups.

*khkkk
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ASTSWMO, Providing Pathways to Our
Nation's Environmental Stewardship Since 1974

ASTSWMO POSTION PAPER ON
PERFORMANCE-BASED CONTRACTING AT FEDERAL FACILITIES

. INTRODUCTION

Performance-based contracting (PBC) is frequently used for implementing environmental cleanup
work at federal facilities under the Defense Environmental Restoration Program (DERP). The
Association of State and Territorial Solid Waste Management Officials (ASTSWMO) has
produced two white papers on the subject: ““Performance Based Remediation Contracts and
Compendium of State Lessons Learned — A Guide to Performance Based Environmental
Remediation, November 2004,” and “‘State Perspectives on the Use of Performance-Based
Contracting at Federal Facilities Cleanups, August 2010.”” Both papers provide recommendations
for improving the PBC process.

Department of Defense (DoD) guidance and direction have been helpful in addressing issues
associated with PBC, but these efforts have not always translated into effective and consistent
implementation of PBC. In the development of this paper, ASTSWMO received information and
cases from 12 States within six different U.S. Environmental Protection (EPA) Regions concerning
the use of these contracts in their States. Mixed comments were received: most States have both
positive and negative experiences with PBC, often depending on the contractor hired; while other
States indicated that regulator participation in the PBC process, oversight by the DoD Components,
and utilizing PBC at appropriate sites are important in improving the contracts.

This paper identifies challenges States continue to face and highlights areas still needing attention.
It also recommends the use of a checklist to assist all parties involved in the development and
implementation of performance-based contracts and improve the PBC process at federal facility
cleanups.

1. SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS ASTSWMO RECOMMENDATIONS

Though ASTSWMO previously developed two separate papers on PBC implementation
(referenced above), several of the recommendations in the two papers are consistent with the
recommendations contained within this position paper. In general, both the 2004 and 2010 papers
stress the need for early and increased State involvement when sites will be investigated and
remediated using the PBC process. These two papers also recommend that DoD coordinate with
States to both ensure that there is adequate DSMOA funding for State involvement and that the
State has adequate resources to meet the accelerated schedules usually associated with contracts.
Lastly, these papers emphasize the need for DoD contractor oversight, including ensuring that the
contractors are consistently following DoD guidance specific to PBC.

1101 17th Street NW, Suite 707, Washington, DC 20036
T: (202) 640-1060 F: (202) 331-3254
www.astswmo.org



I11. CHALLENGES REMAINING

Since 2010, PBC has become the norm for response actions under DERP, and DoD has had
guidance in place since 2007 clarifying both State and DoD roles in PBC. However, the
inconsistent application of DoD guidance on PBC creates ongoing challenges for States. The most
common challenges States continue to encounter include: (1) lack of early regulator involvement,
(2) use of PBC for all sites, regardless if appropriate for the project, (3) lack of contractor oversight,
and (4) project delays due to contract modifications.

Lack of Early Regulator Involvement. One of ASTSWMO'’s recommendations in both 2004
and 2010 is early State participation in the PBC process (e.g., pre-scoping, development of the
PWS, pre-bid meetings, and kick-off meetings). In addition, both DoD and Air Force guidance
documents recommend that the States be included early in the PBC process to communicate
expectations, and to have input on schedules and site selection. Since 2010, States have reported
being invited by the DoD Components to participate early on in the PBC process; however, the
amount of regulator involvement reported varies from DoD component to component, and even
installation to installation. Some States are only invited to the pre-bid meetings, others are invited
to comment on the PWS, and others have spent time answering questions from each contractor
bidding on the project. Many issues directly related to inadequate planning are encountered during
contract implementation in States that are not invited to participate early in the PBC contract. The
resulting inefficiencies and delays can be attributed to:

e Contractors not familiar with State requirements and/or expectations. DoD and Air Force
guidance documents consistently recommend that the expectations of each party (DoD
Component, contractor, and regulator) involved be communicated clearly in meetings and
in writing. PBC is more successful with contractors who have had experience or who are
familiar with working with the State, but regardless, expectations should be communicated.

e Contract schedule does not include enough time for regulator reviews. The regulator’s
ability to handle the anticipated workload is paramount to the success of the contracts.
Some States cite document quality as a problem for performance-based contracts. Under
rigid performance-based contract schedules, many States have been inundated with
substandard documents requiring more review time, thus, becoming a bottleneck for
contractors trying to meet milestones and making progress in delineating and investigating
sites.

e Underestimating the amount of characterization needed for each site. States report that if
the contractor’s bid does not provide for adequate characterization, regulators are often
engaged in lengthy discussions with the contractor on how much data is needed.

Inappropriate Site Selection for PBC. States are concerned that sites without any
characterization are being included in performance-based contracts. Mandates from the Air Force
and others that a certain percentage of all sites must be handled under PBC do not help to ensure
that only appropriate sites use this contracting mechanism. PBC is more successful when there is
less uncertainty. Without knowing the extent and type of contamination at a site, the contractor
takes on risks and may not be willing to perform more work than what they planned for if that
means cutting into their profit. This predicament places a burden on the regulator to argue its case
for full characterization.




Lack of Contractor Oversight. Strong oversight of the contract by DoD is key to ensuring that
the contract is successful. States report that some contractors tend to skip steps or cut corners by:
(1) selecting the cheapest remedy, which may not be effective in remediating the contamination;
(2) choosing not to completely delineate contamination; and (3) choosing to spend minimal time
on preparation of documents and not perform quality assurance review of documents. States have
also reported that some contractors send documents directly to the regulator and DoD Component
at the same time, and therefore, the Component cannot review the document prior to submittal to
the regulator.

Delays Due to Modifications of Contracts. States report that contracts lack the flexibility to deal
with unexpected work. When unexpected work is required, the contractor may ask the DoD
Component to modify the contract. Many contract modifications take an extended period to draft,
negotiate, and finalize, thus delaying important work.

IV. POSITION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

It is ASTSWMO’s position that PBC has great potential for moving sites through the
environmental restoration process efficiently for all stakeholders, both with respect to time and
money. The success of the PBC process depends heavily on regulator involvement during the
contract scoping process and throughout the implementation of the contract. To overcome some
of the challenges referenced above, ASTSWMO recommends that:

e States be given an opportunity to present bidding contractors with their requirements and
expectations to ensure that documents meet with their concurrence.

e Draft schedule of document submittals be provided to the regulator for review so that the
regulator can (1) have input on whether the timeframes in the schedule are reasonable; (2)
evaluate whether document reviews can be accomplished within a reasonable timeframe
with current available resources, and if not, can plan to have the resources available; and
(3) determine whether the time periods for review are appropriate for the complexity and
size of the document (the same timeframe may not be appropriate for every document).

e States be given the opportunity to provide input during the bidding process on each site
included in the PBC process. This input should include any data gaps in characterization
or expected work to meet requirements.

e DoD or the contractor provide thorough site characterization to ensure that PBC is the
appropriate contracting mechanism for remediating each site.

e DoD provide strong oversight of contractor performance, including reviewing each
document prior to submittal to the regulator to ensure that quality documents are submitted.

e Contracts be written to provide for a certain amount of flexibility should unexpected
circumstances arise, so that investigations and remediation can continue expeditiously.



e DoD scrutinize each contractor during the selection process to determine whether they have
the technical, planning, and communication skills to carry a performance-based contract to
success.

ASTSWMO created a template PBC checklist provided in Appendix A. ASTSWMO recommends
that States and DoD adopt and use the checklist at each site under consideration for PBC, which
will help ensure that PBC is implemented consistently according to DoD guidance and help resolve
the challenges encountered during the PBC process.
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APPENDIX A: PBC CHECKLIST

Federal Facilities Performance-Based Contracting Checklist!

1. Pre-contract development meeting with the regulator(s)

e Ensure all site information is obtained and shared with the regulator.

e ldentify the desired site close-out condition, including an understanding of the future
intended use.

e Discuss anticipated workloads and amend DSMOA Joint Execution Plan as needed.

2. Develop the Performance Work Statement with consideration of the views and
requirements from the regulator(s)

e |dentify project objectives for the contract work to be executed (i.e., investigation,
remediation, site closeout, etc.).
e Establish a clear understanding of clean-up requirements (i.e., ARARS).

3. Performance-Based Kick-Off Meeting with the regulator(s)

e Go over project schedules for field work and deliverables.

e Achieve a mutual understanding of expected review times.

¢ Identify standards, criteria, and guidance to be used during site characterization and
remediation.

e ldentify potential points of compliance.

e |dentify regulatory processes and other applicable state agency programs (i.e., Water
Protection, Department of Health, Air Pollution, etc.).

e ldentify site constraints and dependencies (i.e., site access, right of entry, security, on-
going site activities, topography, slope stability, etc.).

e Determine potential community interests.

4. Performance-Based Technical Project Planning Meeting with the regulator(s)

e |dentify a Preliminary Site Conceptual Model as a simple model of the relationships
between chemicals detected at a site and potential exposure pathways to site receptors.

e |dentify media of potential concern affected by site contaminants.

e Reach agreement on Site/Operable Unit prioritization for investigation and remediation.

e Determine data needs.

e Develop data collection options (soil, groundwater, surface water, indoor air).

5. Ensure that deliverables are of quality and NCP compliant before being submitted
for regulator review

! This checklist is not intended to be comprehensive but to emphasize key points in the PBC process for regulator
involvement consistent with DoD Guidance.
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SARAH LUKIN TESTIMONY

Cama’i (hello) Chairman Barrasso and Ranking Member Carper, and distinguished Members of
this Committee. My name is Sarah Lukin. Quyanaa (thank you) for allowing me the opportunity
to provide an Alaska Native Corporation perspective on the status of contaminated sites on land
conveyed to Alaska Native Corporations. I have a short statement to read and would like to
submit my longer, written testimony for the record.

I. INTRODUCTION

I am Alutiiq from the Native Village of Port Lions on Kodiak Island, a remote community of 200
people in the Gulf of Alaska. I am a shareholder and member of the Board of Directors of
Afognak Native Corporation, my Alaska Native village corporation, and a shareholder of Koniag
Incorporated, my Alaska Native regional corporation, each of which were created and mandated
by Congress through the passage of the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act in 1971. 1 am an
enrolled Tribal Member of the Native Village of Afognak and Native Village of Port Lions.

I am here before your Committee on behalf of Afognak Native Corporation and Alaska Native
Village Corporation Association.

Afognak Native Corporation is a member of the Alaska Native Village Corporation Association
(ANVCA). ANVCA is a statewide non-profit organization dedicated to furthering the collective
interests of Alaska Native village corporations through sharing best practices and advocating on
policy and regulatory issues affecting village corporations and rural Alaska.

II. ALASKA NATIVE CORPORATIONS

In 1971, Congress passed the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA). ANCSA,P.L. 92-
203, was signed into law by President Richard Nixon on December 18, 1971. Through ANCSA,
the Federal government agreed to convey to 12 Alaska Native regional corporations and more
than 200 village corporations 44 million acres of land and $962.5 million in settlement of
aboriginal land claims of Alaska Native people. Alaska Native people gave up 88 percent of our
traditional lands through this settlement. Congress directed the Department of the Interior (DOI)
to oversee the transfer of Federal lands to Alaska Native Corporations. The congressionally-
created Alaska Native Corporations hold fee simple title to surface and subsurface ANCSA land
across Alaska and today are the largest private landowners in the State.

Alaska Native people became “shareholders” in a regional corporation and village corporation,
based on cultural and family ties. Under the terms of ANCSA, Alaska Native Corporations are
mandated to provide for the economic, social, and cultural well-being of our shareholders in
perpetuity. Today, Alaska Native Corporations serve over 130,000 Alaska Native shareholders.
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III. STATUS OF ANCSA CONTAMINATED LANDS

During the 1990s, the Alaska Native community raised significant concerns that the DOI was
conveying contaminated land to Alaska Native Corporations. Congress heard the community’s
concerns and took action through Section 326 of Public Law 101-512 Department of the Interior
and Related Agencies Appropriations Act, 1991, which required the Secretary of Interior to
report to Congress on contaminated lands conveyed through ANCSA. The Bureau of Land
Management (BLM) conducted a mail-out survey of ANCs and other interested parties, and
documented 22 responses.' It is unclear what, if anything, was done with this information.

Later, in 1995, Congress directed the Secretary of the Interior to prepare a report on the extent of
contamination on lands conveyed pursuant to ANCSA. In December of 1998, the DOI submitted
a report to Congress entitled Hazardous Substance Contamination of Alaska Native Claims
Settlement Act Lands in Alaska. In that report, the DOI provided a summary of military land uses
in Alaska, noting:

World War II, the Japanese invasion of the Aleutians, and the Cold War had
profound influence on military activities in Alaska...The Federal government
spent over $1.25 billion in Alaska between 1941 and 1945 in military activities
and the construction of installations and facilities for the defense of the nation and
in support of offensive operations...The end of the Cold War and the
accompanying military drawdown has resulted in an increase in the number of
closed and abandoned Alaskan military facilities.”

The DOI report acknowledged conveying approximately 650 contaminated sites to Alaska
Native Corporations with various types of hazardous waste and toxic materials that pose
significant health risk to humans, animals and the environment, including arsenic, unexploded
ordinances, and PCBs, among others. 189 of the contaminated sites identified in the report were
classified as Formerly Used Defense Sites (FUDS).” Many of these sites also include petroleum
contamination.

Importantly, the DOI report discussed ANCs concerns that they may be held responsible for the
cleanup of prior contamination of ANCSA lands as the current landowners under existing
Federal and State environmental laws. Under Section 107(a) of the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, 1980 (CERCLA), the current owner
may be held liable for response costs or natural resource damages without regard to fault. The
DOI report asserted that ANCs would not be held liable under the Environmental Protection
Agency’s (EPAs) “Policy Towards Landowners and Transferees of Federal Facilities” (published
June 13, 1997), which states EPA does not intend to enforce Section 107(a) of CERCLA. The
DOI report emphasized:

21 U.S. Department of the Interior, Hazardous Substance Contamination of Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act
Ibid, page 11.

? See Table 2 Summary of Potentially Contaminated ANCSA lands. Ibid, page 18. NOTE: data represents estimates

of known and potential sites are based on an analysis of the inventory databases discussed herein. Duplicate sites

may exist.
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...EPA will not take enforcement action against a person or entity, or its
transferees or successors to require the performance of response action or
payment of response costs incurred to respond to contamination existing as of the
date that person or entity acquires the property from the United States. EPA is
also aware that even preliminary assessment and evaluation can be burdensome
and expensive to a landowner, and will not seek to impose these costs against
ANCSA landowners relative to contamination or potential contamination that was
on their property at the time of conveyance....Many land transfers under ANCSA
were finalized before CERCLA was enacted and the statutory covenants were
required. However, EPA applies this policy to transferees and successors that
acquired property from the United States in this type of situation in which the
property transferred before CERCLA was enacted.’

Recognizing the unjustness of conveying contaminated lands to ANCs in settlement of aboriginal
rights to land, the DOI recommended “...an approach to fully identify contaminated sites and
cleanup needs on ANCSA lands,” with six specific recommendations in their 1998 report. The
recommendations included:

1. establish a forum of ANCSA landowners and Federal, State, local and Tribal agencies to
exchange information and set priorities

2. create and maintain a comprehensive inventory of contaminated sites

3. apply EPA policies not to impose landowner liability to ANCs for prior contamination

4. within 30 months DOI to report back to Congress on sites that were identified but not
covered by existing cleanup programs

5. revise relevant policies covering existing cleanup programs to address the remediation of
petroleum, asbestos, and the removal of unsafe structures and debris, among others

6. develop a process to train and enable local residents to better participate in cleanup
efforts®

The DOI stated it would “coordinate the implementation of these recommendations, although
other agencies such as the EPA and the Corps of Engineers may take the lead in certain aspects
of the recommendations.”” Largely, nothing happened.

More than a decade later, in 2012, ANVCA selected the contamination of ANCSA lands issue as
a top priority. ANVCA began educating members of Congress, the State Legislature, and Federal
agencies about this issue, urging the cleanup of ANCSA contaminated sites. Today, ANVCA
enjoys broad support to address cleanup of ANCSA lands, including from the Alaska Federation

* Ibid, page 26. See also Appendix B of this testimony, EPAs “Policy Towards Landowners and Transferees of
Federal Facilities” (June 13, 1997).

3 Ibid, page 2.

% See Section 7.0 Recommended Remedies for more information. Ibid, page 35-38.

" Ibid, page 2.
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of Natives, ANCSA Regional Association, Alaska State Legislature and Alaska Governor
William Walker.®

In December 2014, Congress through Public Law 113-235 requested the following information
from the BLM:

1. A comprehensive inventory of contaminated sites conveyed through ANCSA, including
sites identified subsequent to the 1998 report

2. An updated status on the six recommendations listed in the 1998 report

3. A detailed plan on how the DOI intends to complete cleanup of each contaminated site

In June 2016, the BLM submitted the 2016 Update to the DOI 1998 Report to Congress. The
2016 update discussed the contaminated sites inventory prepared by the BLM (with input from
Federal, State and local entities and Alaska Native stakeholders). The inventory identified 537
sites that require remediation.” Of the identified sites, the majority are Department of Defense
sites (162 sites, 120 of which are FUDS)."” 94 of the contaminated sites are not in a cleanup
program and are classified by the BLM as “orphan” sites (notably the report states an additional
104 sites still require further verification and may be added later to the Orphan Site Database)."’
92.5 percent of the 94 “orphan” sites are within 2 miles of Alaska villages, places where our
Native people engage in subsistence activities, obtain our drinking water, and let our children
play. An additional 242 sites identified in the report have land use controls in place,'” limiting
use and development of the land."”

The 2016 report acknowledged that because BLM lacks authority to compel cleanup of
contaminated ANCSA lands subsequent to transfer, no action has been taken on the following
three steps identified in the 1998 report:

1. applying EPA policies on liability of landowners to ANCSA landowners
modifying policies, where needed, to address contaminants and structures that may affect
public health and safety on ANCSA lands

3. developing a process to train and enable local residents to better participate in cleanup
efforts™

¥ See Appendix A of this testimony, ANCSA Contaminated Lands Timeline.

9 See Figure 4: Total number of active contaminated sites conveyed to an ANCSA corporation identified from 4
State and Federal databases. Bureau of Land Management, 2016 Update to the U.S. Department of Interior 1998
Report to Congress on Hazardous Substance Contamination of Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act Lands in
Alaska, Report to Congress (Anchorage, Alaska, 2016), page 18.

' Ibid, page 18 and 44.

! Ibid, page 20.

2 See Figure 2: Current clean-up status of conveyed contaminated sites, as of September 9, 2015 from ADEC data.
Ibid, page 14.

" NOTE: the 2016 report defines Land Use Controls as “Administrative or legal controls established to limit land
use activities to prevent exposure to contaminants remaining at a site and/or to protect the integrity of a response
action.” Ibid, page 4.

" Ibid, page 8.
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The 2016 report included three recommended next steps:

1. the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) should finalize the
comprehensive inventory and implement a remedial action process;

2. establishment of a formal contaminated lands working group; and

3. initiation of a site cleanup process.

In stark contrast to the DOI’s willingness in 1998 to take a leadership role to facilitate the
cleanup of ANCSA contaminated lands, the 2016 update proposes that ADEC and EPA oversee
cleanup of the sites. It also states that:

The BLM does not have the authority to provide liability relief under CERCLA
for potentially responsible parties at sites not under the BLM'’s jurisdiction,

custody, or control; that authority rests with EPA or Federal courts in accordance
with the provisions of Section 107 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. 9607."

This represents an ongoing struggle for ANCs — a lack of a lead coordinating agency that will
effectively coordinate other agencies and assist ANCs with significant issues including
protection from legal liability issues under CERCLA.

IV. THE SUCCESSES AND FAILURES OF ANCSA FUDS CLEANUP

The Afognak Lake and River area on Afognak Island have been used by the Ag’uanermiut
(People of Afognak) for thousands of years. The lake and river are a critical spawning area for
salmon, which serves as a primary subsistence resource for the Ag’uanermiut. In 2003 my Tribe,
Native Village of Afognak (NVA), and my village corporation, Afognak Native Corporation,
joined forces to clean up an old World War II-era Navy base located beside Afognak Lake and
River. The Afognak Island Coastal Defense Site had been used in the 1940s by the U.S. Navy as
a radio transmission site, emergency seaplane site, administration offices and recreation center
for Navy personnel.

Through funding from the Department of Defense’s FUDS Native American Lands
Environmental Mitigation Program (NALEMP), Afognak Native Corporation and NVA spent
six years and $3.3 million cleaning up the contaminated site. In addition to providing my Tribe
and village corporation with business capacity building, the project offered our tribal members
and Native shareholders job training and much needed employment opportunities. The project to
remove toxic materials included five large buildings, seven small structures, two additional
building foundations, two affiliated landfills, drums, asbestos, debris, contaminated soil, and
other materials. In 2009, the remediation was successfully completed.

% Tbid, page 23.
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In stark contrast, the Natives of Kodiak, Inc. (NOK) have spent the last twenty-five (25) years
advocating for the proper cleanup of a contaminated site “Buskin Beach property” on their
ANCSA land. The Buskin Beach property was the central headquarters of the U.S. Army’s Fort
Greely during World War II and was used as an asphalt and metal disposal area, underground
storage tank site and grease pit. In 1992, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACOE) began
cleanup of the site. By 2005, after years of a cleanup effort under FUDS and the Native
American Lands Environmental Mitigation Program (NALEMP), the USACOE stopped all
remediation efforts, focusing instead on “long-term monitoring” of the contamination and
recommending institutional controls.

Since the early 1990s NOK has attempted, and failed, to develop the property because millions
of dollars in utilities infrastructure must be installed to make the land useable and provide
drinking water. In fact, beginning in the late 1990s, NOK sent several letters to the USACOE
contending the slow cleanup efforts were stalling all development on their property and
financially impacting their corporation.

Today, twenty-five (25) years after beginning cleanup efforts, NOK refuses to accept
“institutional controls” and “long-term monitoring” of the contamination and continues to
advocate for their right to drinkable water and land free of contamination.

V. RECOMMENDATIONS

There are 537 sites with pre-existing contamination on land conveyed to ANCs and additional
sites on land pending conveyance. These sites were contaminated under ownership and/or
responsibility of the Federal government and then transferred to Native ownership. ANVCA
urges Congress and Federal agencies to:

A. Prioritize cleanup of ANCSA land

Forty-five (45) years after our aboriginal land settlement with the Federal government, it is time
for the cleanup of ANCSA contaminated sites to be prioritized by the Federal government.

B. Protect ANCs from legal liability

Provide ANCs protection from legal liability for the prior contamination of ANCSA lands under
Section 107(a) of CERCLA.

C. Address US sovereign immunity and petroleum cleanup
Many ANCSA contaminated sites include significant petroleum contamination, which is not

covered under CERCLA. Other laws must therefore be used to compel cleanup of petroleum
contamination.'® State of Alaska statutes extend to petroleum; however, the Federal government

16 See 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14).
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generally can assert sovereign immunity against the application of State laws. A waiver of
sovereign immunity is necessary to cover petroleum products and, potentially, to encompass
debris and other solid wastes disposed of on ANCSA lands during the period of federal agency
ownership.

D. Identify a lead coordinating agency

ANVCA believes that identifying a lead agency responsible for coordinating ANCSA cleanup
efforts would expedite cleanup efforts. This recommendation is generally consistent with the
BLM 2016 Report recommendation. The lead coordinating agency would be responsible for
organizing a formal ANCSA contaminated lands working group, made up of applicable Federal
and State agencies and ANCs. The working group would identify the responsible party, assess
the contaminated lands, and develop plans for cleanup of the 94 orphan sites on ANCSA land.
The working group would also identify the sites posing the greatest health risks for humans and
expedite the remediation of those sites. We recommend the ANC community have a significant
role in determining which agency would be best suited in this role. We further recommend
Congress require the lead coordinating agency to submit an annual report on the status of
ANCSA cleanup efforts to Congress to ensure progress is consistently made in ANCSA
remediation efforts so this effort maintains Congressional visibility/priority of ANCSA
contaminated land cleanup.

E. Provide ANCs and Tribes a preference for cleanup of ANCSA lands

With 537 contaminated sites on ANCSA land, and 92.5 percent of orphan sites located within 2
miles of Alaska villages, ANVCA recommends providing ANCs a preference in contracting with
the Federal government to cleanup their lands. This would offer ANCs the opportunity to build
business capacity and provide much needed jobs in their local communities while reducing
expenses required to house contractors and convey a workforce into and out of the sites.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Federal government conveyed contaminated land to ANCs in return for the extinguishment
of certain aboriginal rights to land. Under Federal and State law, ANCs face potential legal
exposure for the remediation of those lands. In addition, some of those contaminated lands pose
significant health risk to humans, animals and the environment. It is unacceptable that forty-five
(45) years after the passage of ANCSA and the extinguishment of certain aboriginal land claims,
Alaska Native Corporations continue to face legal exposure for contaminated lands conveyed to
them by the Federal government and that many of those sites still do not have a clearly identified
responsible party, assessment, or plan for cleanup.

Quyanaasinaq (thank you very much) for the opportunity to bring awareness to this critical issue
facing Alaska Native people, rural villages, and Alaska Native Corporations.
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R INTRODUCTION

Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee, thank you for inviting me here today to speak on behalf of
Washington State to this important topic. Washington State has historically played an important role in
national defense through two World Wars, wars in East Asia and in the Cold War. Our deep-water ports,
strategically located airports, proximity to the Pacific Rim and integrated rail system make Washington an
ideal place to site strategic national defense resources. Indeed, today we are home to six active military
installations, a major homeland security installation, two U.S. Department of Energy facilities, and defense
research facilities.

However, Washington’s contributions to national defense and security have come at a cost to our
resources and citizens. To this day, contamination at these defense facilities has significantly impacted
land, water and groundwater, posing very real threats to human health and Washington’s environment.
The Hanford Nuclear Reservation is the most significant example of this, as the more than 40 years of
nuclear weapons production there left the largest and most complex environmental cleanup site in the
country. In addition to Hanford, Washington is home to approximately 500 Formerly Used Defense Sites
(FUDs) in need of environmental remediation, as well as active military installations that are ranked on
the National Priorities List as some of the nation’s highest priority sites to be addressed under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA).

As further set forth below, the State and an array of federal agencies play vital roles in cleaning up the
environmental legacy of the Cold War. The federal agencies include the Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA), the Army Corps of Engineers, the Department of Defense, and the Department of Energy (DOE),
among others. These agencies provide, either through direct spending on cleanup or pass-through funds
to the State, essential resources for moving these cleanups forward and ensuring they are adequately
protective of the State’s citizens and natural resources. Proposals for significant cuts to these agencies is
of serious concern to Washington State. Such cuts could slow or stop progress on cleanups in
communities that have been waiting decades for the risks associated with these sites to be abated.
Further, Washington State does not have the capacity or resources to fill the void if federal agencies are
unable to fulfill their obligations under CERCLA or the FUDS Program.



A. The Hanford Nuclear Reservation
1. Site Background

The Hanford Nuclear Reservation was established as part of the Manhattan Project in 1943 for the
production of weapons-grade plutonium. Hanford was home to the first full-scale plutonium reactor in
the world, and during the Cold War grew to include nine nuclear reactors and five large plutonium
processing complexes that produced 65 percent of the country’s weapons-grade plutonium. The Site’s
operations also included chemical processing plants, “canyon” buildings where chemicals were used to
dissolve uranium, and waste processing facilities, among other facilities. Hanford was chosen as the
location for this effort due to its relative isolation from populated areas, and for its proximity to the
Columbia River, which provided abundant water to cool reactors and cheap hydroelectric power from
nearby dams.

The environmental legacy left by Hanford’s Cold War mission is striking. In approximately 40 years of
plutonium processing, more than 470 billion gallons of liquid wastes were discharged directly to the
ground, and solid wastes contaminated with radioactivity and/or chemicals were buried on site in unlined
trenches. Hanford’s weapons production also left more than 130 million cubic yards of contaminated soil
and debris, 1,000 contaminated buildings, and 72 square miles of groundwater contamination, which
flows toward one of the State’s most valuable resources, the Columbia River. In addition, a byproduct of
the plutonium production was more than 56 million gallons of high-level mixed radioactive and chemical
waste, that are, to this day, stored in 177 aging underground single- and double-shell tanks on Site. More
than 67 of the 149 single-shell tanks have leaked, releasing upwards of one million gallons of high level
waste to the ground. In 2012, one of the 28 newer double-shell tanks was also found to have leaked.
Overall, Hanford represents roughly two-thirds of the nation’s high-level nuclear waste by volume, is the
most contaminated nuclear site in the country, and is the nation’s largest environmental cleanup. Recent
estimates have put total cleanup costs over $120 billion in an effort expected to run through 2070.

2. Cleanup at Hanford

In 1987 weapons production at Hanford stopped, and the focus shifted to cleanup. A year later, EPA
divided Hanford into four sites that it placed on the National Priorities List (NPL) for cleanup under CERCLA:
the 100 Area, the 200 Area, the 300 Area, and the 1100 Area.! The DOE, EPA and the State of Washington
subsequently signed the Hanford Federal Facility Agreement and Consent Order (known as the “Tri-Party
Agreement”) to set out the three parties’ relative responsibilities at Hanford. Cleanup activities are the
joint responsibility of EPA and the State under CERCLA and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
(RCRA), and the respective implementing regulations, with the specific division of labor laid out in the Tri-
Party Agreement. The State of Washington’s primary role under the Tri-Party Agreement is to implement
RCRA at the Site,? with oversight by EPA. EPA is the lead regulatory authority under CERCLA at the Site,
and has final authority over remedial decisions made under CERCLA. Because of the hundreds of CERCLA

1 A map showing the Hanford NPL Sites is provided at the end of these materials.

2 |n 1987, EPA authorized the State of Washington to implement the State’s hazardous waste management program
in lieu of RCRA, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 6926. However, EPA retains an oversight role of the State’s program to
ensure the State is maintaining and implementing a program that is substantially equivalent to RCRA. At Hanford,
Washington State is responsible for issuing and maintaining the Hanford Site-wide RCRA permit, which sets
hazardous waste management and corrective action requirements for the Site.



operable units in need of cleanup at Hanford and the desire to expedite cleanup, the Tri-Party Agreement
divides the “lead regulator” role for CERCLA operable units and RCRA units at Hanford between
Washington State and EPA.2> Though Washington State acts as “lead regulator” on a number of CERCLA
operable units, the State does not have the authority to make final remedial decisions; those are
exclusively within EPA’s authority. DOE, as the owner and operator of the Site, is responsible for
conducting the cleanup, and also has regulatory authority over radiological materials at the Site under the
Atomic Energy Act.

Since 1989, cleanup at Hanford has been characterized overall by slow progress and many stops and
starts. In particular, the effort to remove and treat the 56 million gallons of tank waste has been
hampered for decades by project mismanagement and budget shortfalls. The tank waste was initially
scheduled to be treated and turned into a stable glass form (vitrified) as early as the mid-1990s. When
that did not happen, the date shifted to 2001, then 2007, then 2011. The State lost patience with the
ever-changing deadlines and entered into negotiations with DOE for a consent decree with judicially
enforceable tank waste treatment milestones. In 2010, an agreement was reached and a consent decree
entered that required DOE to be capable of treating the tank waste by 2019. Within a year of signing the
consent decree, DOE notified the State that it could not meet the 2019 deadline. The parties went back
to court, and in 2016 the court set new deadlines: 2023 for DOE to start treating low-activity tank waste,
and 2036 to start treating high-level tank waste.

Washington State remains concerned that the single-shell tanks that hold this highly radioactive chemical
waste are decades past their design lives and have already leaked more than a million gallons. In addition,
the “newer” double-shell tanks are at the end of, or beyond, their design lives. Every delay in removing
and treating the waste increases the likelihood that these aging and degrading tanks will release their
contents into the surrounding environment. If it meets the latest consent decree schedule, DOE will finally
begin treating tank waste in just 6 years, after more than 20 years of failed attempts.

Washington State’s highest priority at the Hanford Site remains keeping the Department of Energy on
track to meet this schedule of low activity tank waste treatment by 2023 and high level tank waste
treatment by 2036. DOE needs adequate funding to meet these obligations and the State supports all
efforts to ensure that funding is made available. Indeed, our estimates indicate DOE needs increased
funds (over the amounts in the current Continuing Resolution) over at least the next 5 years to meet its
short-term consent decree obligations.

Despite the lack of progress when it comes to tank wastes, there has been good progress in other areas
of Hanford cleanup. For example, the 1100 Area has been remediated and removed from the National
Priorities List. Other successes include cleaning up the majority of contamination along the River Corridor,
which reduces risks of contamination migrating to the Columbia River. Because the Columbia River
remains a source of drinking water for local municipalities, a source of irrigation water for the surrounding
agricultural community, and habitat for salmon and other aquatic species, cleaning up the area adjacent
to the river has been a priority.

3 See, e.g., Article XXIV of the Tri-Party Agreement. Appendix C of the TPA Action Plan identifies the hundreds of
CERCLA operable units at the Site and designates either EPA or the State as lead regulator for each.



Additional cleanup progress came with the installation of groundwater pump and treat systems installed
in the 100 and 200 areas at the Site. A source of groundwater contamination, soil contaminated with the
potent carcinogen, hexavalent chromium, was removed from an area an acre wide and 85 feet deep. In
addition, more than 241,000 pounds of another carcinogen, carbon tetrachloride, have been removed
from remaining soil and the groundwater through other means, along with more than 500 pounds of
uranium. The success of the groundwater treatment systems has reduced the footprint of groundwater
contamination from 72 square miles to 56 square miles, and brought the levels of contamination close to
drinking water standards by the time it reaches the Columbia River.

3. Outlook for Cleanup Progress at Hanford

Cleanup progress at Hanford is directly correlated to funds available for cleanup activities. For example,
the successes in cleaning up sites along the River Corridor and the groundwater pump and treat systems
were made possible due to an influx of money from the 2009 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act
(ARRA) stimulus. These additional funds gave the parties the resources they needed to make fast and
efficient progress at the Site. Washington State is concerned that proposed federal budget cuts could
negatively impact the Hanford cleanup, a cleanup our Congressional delegation has called the federal
government’s legal and moral obligation.

DOE’s budget has historically fallen well short of what it needs to comply with its cleanup obligations
across the country and at Hanford, and the recent budget proposals we have seen are similarly
inadequate. As indicated above, funding at current levels (under the Continuing Resolution) may not be
enough to ensure DOE can meet its consent decree obligations. Any cuts to DOE’s Hanford budget below
the current Continuing Resolution levels would virtually guarantee DOE will be unable to meet its consent
decree obligations. The longer it takes for cleanup to happen, the higher the percentage of DOE’s budget
that goes to simply maintaining the Site’s aging infrastructure in a safe and secure condition, leaving
increasingly less of DOE’s Hanford budget for cleanup.

If EPA’s budget for Hanford work is reduced, there is a similar risk that progress on the remaining CERCLA
cleanups at the Site will slow or stop. This is because at sites listed on the NPL (like the 4 Hanford sites),
the State of Washington has no authority to require cleanup under the State’s cleanup laws, and EPA
retains the exclusive authority to make remedial decisions under CERCLA. Further, at Hanford the parties
have historically used CERCLA as the regulatory mechanism to address radiological contamination, and
the State is constrained in its ability to independently address radiological contamination, in addition to
being unable to make CERCLA remedial decisions to address chemical contamination. If EPA does not
have resources to dedicate to Hanford cleanup (and they only have 3 full time staff available to work on
it now), there would be little the State could do to fill that void. A slowing of CERCLA cleanup at Hanford
could also impede progress on cleaning up sites under RCRA, as many RCRA cleanup units are within the
footprint of larger CERCLA operable units. To efficiently cleanup these RCRA units, the EPA and the State
plan to use the larger CERCLA operable unit cleanups to address smaller RCRA sites within them. Delays
in these CERCLA cleanups would necessarily delay the RCRA ones as well.

In addition to its role at the Site under CERCLA, EPA provides oversight and technical advice to the State
for RCRA cleanups. If EPA loses resources in the RCRA program, the State will lose a source of technical
expertise and assistance, as well as a backstop if the State were ever unable to fulfill its RCRA role at the
Site. EPA has also historically played an important role in enforcement at the Hanford Site, especially for
large and/or technically complex actions needed to ensure timely compliance and/or cleanup. If EPA
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budget cuts of the magnitude that have been proposed* impaired EPA’s enforcement role at the Site, the
State’s already limited resources would be strained to fill that important function. In short, Hanford's
already slow progress towards cleanup by 2070 would be slowed further still if funding for activities at the
Site were reduced.

B. Other Cold War Legacy Sites in Washington

Approximately 500 Formerly Used Defense Sites (FUDs) are located in Washington State, many in urban
areas. There is a State Management Action Plan (SMAP) that prioritizes these sites for remedial action,
developed by the Corps of Engineers (Corps), Washington State and EPA. The Corps is responsible for
implementing and funding the SMAP using CERCLA as its guide, with the State acting in an oversight
capacity as the primary state regulator. EPA plays a role to ensure CERCLA consistency, and also provides
some federal regulatory oversight.

These FUDS cover a full range of sites, from high risk military munitions sites, to medium and lower risk
sites comprised of carcinogenic contaminants such as solvents, petroleum, pesticides, paint, asbestos,
metals, low level radioactive material, and other varieties of contaminants. Washington is also home to
active military installations that are ranked on the National Priorities List as some of the nation’s highest
priority cleanup sites. Examples of these sites include the Bremerton Naval Complex, Joint Base Lewis
McChord, Fairchild Air Force Base, and Whidbey Naval Air Station. These sites receive funding through
the Installation Restoration Program, or the Defense Environmental Restoration Program, separate from
FUDs funding. Additional Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) sites, like Camp Bonneville and Sandpoint
Naval Station receive funding through the BRAC program. Many of these sites have some type of legal
agreement in place (federal or state) that provides a structure and schedule for the cleanup(s). EPA and
the State are signatories to most of these agreements.

Federal facilities are required by law and Executive Order 12580 to be the lead implementing agencies for
cleanups and to act consistent with CERCLA. They are also required to seek state involvement and
concurrence on cleanups. EPA may act as the primary regulator at federal facilities and negotiate federal
legal agreements that provide structure and schedules for the cleanups. States are involved in this type
of EPA lead site to ensure that any state laws that apply to the cleanup are included in the remedial
requirements as Applicable, Relevant and Appropriate requirements (ARARs). For sites not listed on the
NPL, states may take the lead role as a regulator under state environmental laws.

An approximate 30 percent or greater reduction in the EPA budget would likely reduce EPA staffing levels
and project oversight at these federal facility cleanups. This would in turn slow the rate of the cleanup
schedule and reduce the consistent application of CERCLA at these cleanups. Because EPA also can assist
the State with ensuring consistent application of state laws as ARARs during these cleanups, this process
could also become more time consuming and lead to inconsistent standards being applied at cleanup
sites. Federal facilities are responsible for requesting money to pay for their own cleanups, so although a
reduction in the EPA budget would probably not directly affect these other federal cleanups, a reduction
in the specific federal facility’s budget could.

4 Pages 41-42 of the “Budget Blueprint” for the Federal Fiscal Year (FFY) 2018 (October 1, 2017 — September 30,
2018) (the “Blueprint”) proposal provides that it funding for EPA’s Office of Enforcement and Compliance would
be cut by 30.7% compared to the 2017 annualized Continuing Resolution level. Link to Blueprint:
https://whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/omb/budget/fy2018/2018 blueprint.pdf.
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The State is also concerned that its own work at these sites and elsewhere would be impacted by the
reductions in EPA funding proposed in the President’s Budget Blueprint. Currently, federal funding
accounts for approximately 34 percent of Washington’s Department of Ecology budget, with 80 percent
of that funding coming from EPA. Superfund grants, State/EPA cooperative agreements and EPA-funded
cleanups are potentially impacted by the proposed cuts, and the State’s Categorical Grants that support
air and water quality would be significantly impacted.> The exact reduction areas and amount are not yet
clear, but potential impacts for cleanups at FUDs and federal facilities are detailed below.

1. Washington’s Toxic Cleanup Program

A reduction in EPA’s budget could reduce the amount of Superfund grants and cooperative agreement
funding to the State. Washington State’s Superfund grants and cooperative agreements currently total
$1.4 million per year, which supports approximately 9.5 full time State employees working on high-priority
and complex cleanup sites. A 30 percent reduction could result in a reduction to the State’s budget of
roughly $425,000, and reduce EPA’s cleanup investment in Washington State by one-third.

In addition, CERCLA cleanups that are funded by EPA are potentially impacted. There are a number of
cleanups in Washington that are being paid for out of the federal Superfund Trust fund. For sites entirely
funded by the Superfund, a 30 percent reduction in funds would not allow the remedial actions to meet
the State and EPA’s performance expectations. At some sites, the burden would fall to the State to make
sure the remedial actions implemented at the Site were maintained, up to and including operating a
groundwater treatment plant, indefinitely, at a cost of $1 million a year. Overall, these potential cuts
would likely slow the rate of cleanups and place additional burdens on already strained state regulatory
resources, but exactly how is not clear until more details on the cuts are provided.

2. Formerly Used Defense Sites (FUDs)

The FUDs Program uses a national priority setting approach to funding projects. Funding for Washington
FUDs projects therefore depends on how those projects align with priorities on a national level. For
example, work at Port Angeles Combat Range, a military munitions site of high priority for Washington
State, is of a lower priority on a national level and may not be funded if budgets are tight.

A $1 billion cut to the Corps budget would likely have a direct effect on the pace of FUDS cleanups in
Washington State, as any of our sites that are lower on the priority list would not get funded, and funds
could be diverted to Corps priorities other than cleanup. A budget reduction could also affect military
munitions cleanups and safety notifications. However, we cannot be certain about any such impacts until
additional details on the budget cuts are provided.

1. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Washington has long played host to vital national defense facilities, doing our part to ensure
the Country’s safety and security. Yet, our citizens and resources have been left with the harmful
environmental legacy of those sites. The pace of their cleanups has rarely been quick, but to date it has
been steady. Without adequate funding from the federal government to fulfill this moral and legal

5 Page 41 of the Blueprint provides that it would reduce Superfund funding by $330 M compared to the 2017
annualized Continuing Resolution level.



cleanup obligation, Washington fears progress at these federal facilities will slow or stop, forcing
Washington citizens to bear more than their fair share of harm from these national defense sites.
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